# Exploring person-centered care in acute psychosis care settings

# Findings from the Person-Centered Psychosis Care project

Katarina Allerby

Department of Psychiatry and Neurochemistry Institute of Neuroscience and Physiology Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg



UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Gothenburg 2022

Cover illustration: Shutterstock, edited by Eva Furunger Photo of author: Oskar Allerby

Exploring person-centered care in acute psychosis care settings Findings from the Person-Centered Psychosis Care project

© Katarina Allerby 2022

katarina.allerby@vgregion.se

ISBN 978-91-8009-913-4 (PRINT) ISBN 978-91-8009-914-1 (PDF)

Printed in Borås, Sweden 2022 Printed by Stema Specialtryck AB

To Leif

Many persons with psychotic disorders are in need of inpatient care at some point in time. The inpatient setting is suggested to need reform to better deliver recovery-oriented care and align with legislation emphasizing patient participation and autonomy. Person-centered care holds potential to contribute to needed change but has not been sufficiently explored in acute psychosis care settings.

The aim of this thesis was to explore outcomes and experiences of the Person-Centered Psychosis Care project (PCPC), an educational intervention for inpatient staff launched at the Psychosis Clinic in Gothenburg. PCPC aimed at creating a sustainable increase of person-centeredness at the psychosis care wards. Patient reported outcomes (empowerment and consumer satisfaction, **Paper I**) and registry data (care consumption, **Paper II**) were compared in pre- and post-intervention samples. Focus groups were used to capture staff experiences of PCPC (**Paper III**). Post-intervention care experiences of patients and next-of-kin were explored with individual and focus group interviews (**Paper IV**).

The findings show that PCPC could not be associated with improved empowerment but with improved satisfaction with care. Length of hospital stay, and length of involuntary stay were longer after the intervention. Staff experiences reflect both a theoretical understanding of person-centered care and a translation into practice, with positive changes such as improved work environment. However, organizational and practical features obstructed implementation. Service user and next-of-kin data reflected mixed experiences of inpatient care, suggesting that person-centeredness does not yet permeate the care process, even though some positive experiences of a more personcentered care emerged. Taken together, findings from the four studies suggest that PCPC was successful in enhancing person-centered thinking and actions in staff, but not all were committed to the project and organizational or practical features obstructed implementation. The findings in **Study I**, **II** and **IV** might be explained by such insufficient implementation. Results must be regarded as tentative due to study limitations.

**Keywords**: Person-centered care, Psychosis, Schizophrenia, Inpatient care, Empowerment, Satisfaction, Length of stay, Length of involuntary stay, Staff, Next-of-kin Psykossjukdomar som schizofreni, vanföreställningssyndrom eller schizoaffektiv sjukdom drabbar ca en av 100 personer, och i Sverige lever runt 35 000 personer med schizofreni. Dessa sjukdomar innefattar typiska psykossymptom så som hallucinationer och vanföreställningar men kognitiva funktionsnedsättningar är också vanliga. Att tidigt få behandling och stöd är viktigt för att kunna återhämta sig och skapa förutsättningar för det liv man vill leva. Riktlinjer för psykosvård betonar vikten av att anpassa vårdinsatser så att varje patient får det stöd just hen behöver. Traditionellt har sådana riktlinjer fokuserat på att minska symptom och öka funktion. Detta är fortfarande grundläggande och viktigt i all behandling, men är ett smalt sätt att se på hälsa som dessutom bidragit till att ge patienter en passiv roll inom vården. Idag influeras både riktlinjer och vårdpolicys av idén om patienten som en aktiv partner i vårdprocessen. Person-centrerad vård syftar till detta och har sin utgångspunkt i att se patienten som en person. Det betyder att varje patient ses som kapabel och en aktiv partner i sin vård utifrån att hen är expert på sig själv, med resurser, behov och förväntningar som är avgörande för vårdprocessen. Patientens berättelse om sin situation och sig själv är central, och en lyckad vårdprocess bygger på att patient och vårdgivare bildar ett partnerskap där man utbyter information, tar vara på båda parters expertis och tillsammans kommer överens om en plan för återhämtning och ökad hälsa.

I psykosöppenvård finns vårdmodeller som bygger på dessa principer. I slutenvården, dvs dygnet-runt-vård på sjukhus, visar dock rapporter och forskning att patienter och närstående upplever att de inte får tillräckligt stöd för återhämtning, att miljön kan vara direkt ohälsosam och att de i liten utsträckning har möjlighet att påverka vården eller delta i beslut. En faktor som späder på dessa intryck är tillämpningen av tvångsvård. Tvångsvård regleras av lag och innebär att under vissa kriterier kan en person mot sin vilja läggas in och hållas kvar på sjukhus samt tvingas ta emot behandling. Att öka person-centreringen inom psykosslutenvården skulle kunna bidra till en bättre

vårdupplevelse och en bättre återhämtning för personer med akut psykos. Dock är person-centrering i psykosslutenvård för lite undersökt och därför ämnar denna avhandling utforska hur person-centrerad vård kan användas och vad det kan leda till i psykosslutenvård.

Avhandlingens delstudier utvärderar en intervention som syftade till att öka person-centreringen på fyra slutenvårdsavdelningar inom psykosvården i Göteborg. Projektet kallas Person-Centrerad Psykosvård (Person-Centered Psychosis Care, PCPC) och innefattade en utbildningsintervention för slutenvårdspersonal. Deltagarna fick både teoretiskt och praktiskt fördjupa sina kunskaper om person-centrering och hur det kunde användas i deras kliniska arbete. De fick sedan själva skapa mindre förändringsprojekt som de testade att implementera på sina arbetsplatser för att öka person-centrering. Exempel på projekt var att skapa en rutin för att kontaktpersoner och läkare skulle kunna ha regelbundna samtal med patienter, att skriva vårdplan tillsammans med patienten och öka involvering av närstående genom att bjuda in till samtal.

Avhandlingen innefattar fyra delstudier med olika perspektiv på PCPC. I **delstudie I** undersöktes patienters empowerment (översätts ibland med egenmakt och handlar om i vilken mån man har makt över situationer och faktorer som påverkar ens liv) och nöjdhet med vården med skattningsformulär. Patienter som vårdades på slutenvården rekryterades för att delta strax innan utskrivning. 50 patienter innan och 50 patienter efter interventionen deltog. Empowerment var oförändrad men patienterna som vårdats efter PCPC var nöjdare med sin vård.

I **delstudie II** jämfördes vårdtider för samtliga patienter som vårdats på psykosavdelningarna under året innan PCPC mot alla vårdade under ett år efter. Både vårdtider och tvångsvårdstider var längre efter interventionen medan andelen tvångsvård och återinläggningar var liknande mellan grupperna.

Delstudie III undersökte personals erfarenheter av hela projektet genom fokusgruppintervjuer. Resultatet visade att deltagarna tagit till sig personcentreringsprinciperna och att dessa användes i praktiken på olika sätt. Personalen beskrev hur de tyckte att det blivit en bättre vårdmiljö för både personal och patienter men att det fanns hinder för att arbeta person-centrerat som hade med vårdorganisationen och det praktiska arbetet att göra. De gav också exempel på saker som gynnade omställningen till person-centrering vilket till stor del hade med personalens egenskaper att göra.

I **delstudie IV** undersöktes hur patienter och närstående upplevde slutenvården efter att PCPC implementerats genom intervjuer. De beskrev både vårdmiljön och vårdkvaliteten med exempel som gav en bild av att person-centrering existerade i vissa möten och situationer men inte genomsyrade slutenvården. Personalens bemötande beskrevs över lag som gott, men många patienter och närstående upplevde sig inte bli involverade i vården och vårdmiljön beskrevs som fortsatt problematisk.

Slutsatsen från studierna är att PCPC tycks ha framgångsrikt påverkat personal att både tänka och agera mer person-centrerat på sina arbetsplatser, men all personal engagerade sig inte i projektet och organisatoriska faktorer så som personalomsättning, otillräckliga resurser för att driva förändring och hierarkier påverkade implementeringen negativt. Resultaten av delstudie I, II och IV kan förklaras av en ofullständig implementering. Svagheter i studiedesignen gör att resultaten ska ses som preliminära.

Paper I. Allerby, K., Goulding, A., Ali, L., Waern, M. (2020). Striving for a more person-centered psychosis care: Results of a hospital-based multi-professional educational intervention. *BMC Psychiatry 20:523*.

Paper II. Allerby, K., Gremyr, A., Ali, L., Waern, M., Goulding, A. Increasing person-centeredness in psychosis inpatient care: care consumption before and after a person-centered care intervention. *Submitted*.

Paper III. Allerby, K., Ali, L., Goulding, A., Waern, M. (2022). Increasing person-centeredness in psychosis inpatient care: staff experiences from the Person-Centered Psychosis Care project (PCPC). *BMC Health Services Research 22:596*.

Paper IV. Goulding, A., Wiktorsson, S., Allerby, K., Ali, L., Waern, M. Emerging person-centredness: Service user and next-of-kin experiences of psychosis inpatient care after a person-centred care intervention. *Submitted*.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS	1
INTRODUCTION	3
SCHIZOPHRENIA & PSYCHOTIC DISORDERS	3
PSYCHOSIS TREATMENT STRATEGIES AND RECOVER	Y4
INPATIENT PSYCHOSIS CARE	6
PERSON-CENTERED CARE	8
Starting with the person	9
A framework for person-centered care	11
PCC outcomes	11
Important concepts and their relation to PCC	12
THE PERSON-CENTERED PSYCHOSIS CARE INTERVE	NTION 16
ΤΠΕΣΙΣ ΒΑΤΙΟΝΙΑΙ Ε	10
THESIS KATIONALE	
AIMS	
METHODS	23
DESIGN	23
SETTING	
SAMPLING & PARTICIPANTS	25
MEASURES	
Empowerment scale	
Consumer satisfaction	
Covariates	
Care consumption	
DATA COLLECTION & PROCEDURE	
DATA ANALYSES	
Statistical analyses	

Qualitative analyses	35
ETHICS	
RESULTS	
PATIENT REPORTED OUTCOMES	
CARE CONSUMPTION	
STAFF EXPERIENCES	40
PATIENT AND NEXT-OF-KIN EXPERIENCES	42
DISCUSSION	45
METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATONS	45
Degree of implementation	45
Design of Study I & II	46
Lack of control of confounders	47
Choice of measures	47
Choice of qualitative analysis	49
On trustworthiness and reflexivity	49
UNDERSTANDING THE FINDINGS	51
The status quo of empowerment	51
Improving satisfaction with care	53
Prolonged length of hospital stay	55
Failure to reduce involuntary care	56
Experiencing PCPC	57
Facilitators and barriers for PCC	59
CONCLUSIONS	63
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	65
TACK!	67
REFERENCES	71

### ABBREVIATIONS

ANCOVA - Analysis of Covariance

EQ-5D - EuroQoL-5 dimensions

DSM-5 - Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Ed.

GAF - Global Assessment of Functioning

GPCC - Gothenburg center for Person-Centered Care

ICD-10 – International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems –  $10^{\text{th}}$  Revision

LoS - Length of hospital Stay

LoIS - Length of Involuntary hospital Stay

- PANSS Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale
- PCC Person-Centered Care
- PCPC Person-Centered Psychosis Care
- RSS Remission sub-scale of the Positive and Negative Symptoms Scale
- SDM Shared Decision-Making
- QoL Quality of Life
- UKU-ConSat UKU-Consumer Satisfaction Rating Scale
- VAS Visual Analogue Scale

With this introduction I will set the stage for the exploration of personcentered care (PCC) in psychosis inpatient settings by shortly introducing psychotic disorders, current thoughts of its treatment and the role of acute hospital care (mainly referred to as inpatient care) including current problems. Thereafter person-centered care is introduced with a short summary of previous research. Finally, I describe the Person-Centered Psychosis Care project, which is the basis for the studies in this thesis.

#### SCHIZOPHRENIA & PSYCHOTIC DISORDERS

Psychotic disorders are characterized by the presence of psychotic symptoms such as hallucinations, delusions or thought disorders, and cognitive dysfunction is a common and important trait. Major diagnoses are schizophrenia, schizoaffective syndrome and delusional disorder, specified in the diagnostic criteria of DSM-5 or ICD-10 (American Psychiatric Association, 2013; World Health Organization, 1992). Schizophrenia usually presents in young adulthood involving hallucinations and delusions along with different degrees of cognitive symptoms, such as executive dysfunction or working memory deficits, and so-called negative symptoms for example anhedonia or motivational deficits. Life-time prevalence is traditionally reported at 1%, with ranges from 0.5% - 1.6%, suggesting approximately one out of 100 persons will experience schizophrenia during their lifetime (Perälä et al., 2007; Rössler, Salize, van Os, & Riecher-Rossler, 2005; World Health Organization, 2001). Schizoaffective disorder features similar symptoms but involves manic or depressive episodes and is reported at the less frequent prevalence of 0.3% (Perälä et al., 2007). Delusional disorder presents with non-schizophrenic delusions (meaning non-bizarre) as the main symptom; hallucinations or cognitive symptoms are marginal. The debut is usually later in life, at middle age, and the lifetime prevalence has been reported at 0.2% (Perälä et al., 2007).

Whilst there are similar core symptoms of these disorders, the prognosis in terms of persevering symptoms and disability varies somewhat among diagnostic groups and largely at the individual level (Rössler et al., 2005). The impact of schizophrenia is substantial from a societal perspective, as patients with schizophrenia are reported to account for more than 1% of the world's total Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALY)<sup>1</sup>, and nearly 3% of all Years Lived with Disability (Rössler et al., 2005). Schizophrenia and similar psychoses impact on the ability to independently carry out daily activities and work/studies. This causes low employment rates (5-23%), with many depending on social benefits or the family to provide for them (Thornicroft et al., 2004). Medication and unhealthy lifestyle contribute to physical health problems; diabetes and cardiovascular diseases are common complications (von Hausswolff-Juhlin, Bjartveit, Lindstrom, & Jones, 2009). This, in combination with suicide, helps to explain why life expectancy is reduced by as much as two decades in persons with schizophrenia and similar psychoses (Tiihonen et al., 2009). Social exclusion and stigmatization further adds to the burden (Sibitz et al., 2011), and these phenomena are sometimes extended to informal caregivers such as family or friends (Kadri, Manoudi, Berrada, & Moussaoui, 2004; Phelan, Bromet, & Link, 1998; Struening et al., 2001). Although these figures present a dire picture, research also shows that  $\sim 50\%$ may reach a seemingly stable remission (Lambert, Karow, Leucht, Schimmelmann, & Naber, 2010).

#### PSYCHOSIS TREATMENT STRATEGIES AND RECOVERY

The complexity and complications of the psychotic disorders make comprehensive care needed (Mohr et al., 2018). Evidence-based recommendations for practice are provided by national guidelines, such as the guidelines from British National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) and the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare (National

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Disability-Adjusted life year (DALY) is a way to quantify the burden of different diseases where one DALY represents one year lost of "healthy" life. It combines mortality, which is years lost due to premature death, with disability, which is years lived with disability.

Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014; Swedish Board of Health and Welfare, 2018). Early detection and intervention are stressed. Pharmacological, psychological, social, occupational and educational interventions are suggested to reduce symptoms, foster coping strategies and improve abilities to function in different aspects of life. Further, programs to enhance a healthy lifestyle are suggested and there should be regular check-ups of physical health. Alongside assessing patients' needs, next-of-kins' needs should also be assessed to provide fitted support and information on psychosis management, with a positive message about recovery (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014; Swedish Board of Health and Welfare, 2018).

Parallel to the recommendations of the content of care, there is a great emphasis on the conduct and attitude of professional carers (hereby referred to as staff). A personal and empathic approach focusing on building therapeutical relationships in a hopeful atmosphere is put forward. This is in line with what patients express wanting from staff and part of an overall transformation of the care organization in which the patients' experiences and satisfaction are important outcomes (National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health, 2012). Strengthening the patients' role is emphasized as staff are guided to foster autonomy, promote active participation in decisionmaking and support self-management.

The above described components resonate from the evolvement of treatment goals. While traditional medical recovery implies symptomatic remission and improvement of dysfunction, personal recovery (hereby referred to as just recovery) emphasizes the patients' personal growth and life goals, with or without symptoms. In a seminal work on recovery, the CHIME framework was created from the body of existing recovery research. According to the CHIME framework recovery-oriented practices should support the processes of connectedness, hope and optimism, identity, meaning in life and empowerment (Leamy, Bird, Boutillier, Williams, & Slade, 2011)<sup>2</sup>. This means

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Recovery is the goal of recovery-oriented practice which is rooted in the recovery movement. It claims the right for persons with mental health problems to thrive,

in practice that we should adopt and convey a more positive view of prognosis, allow and assist patients in pursuing own goals, and function as facilitators in their process towards a meaningful life situation. This shift from a mainly medical paradigm to the ambitious goal of recovery has major implications as the role of health care services moves towards that of facilitator for personal health.

#### INPATIENT PSYCHOSIS CARE

Although todays' organization of psychosis care outlines outpatient services as the main provider, inpatient services remain a vital part of the care spectrum. As many as 50% of patients with first-episode psychoses are reported to need hospital care during the first seven years from onset (Ajnakina et al., 2020), and about the same proportion is suggested to need rehospitalization during the first years (Cougnard et al., 2006). The share of patients that needs inpatient care has remained stable over time, but the number of days spent in hospital (LoS) has drastically decreased over the last decades (Ajnakina et al., 2020). In a psychiatric context, patients with psychotic disorders take a large part of the inpatient resources, mainly by overrepresentation in long stays (Golay, Morandi, Conus, & Bonsack, 2019; Han et al., 2021). Long inpatient stays have been related to interrupted social integration (Smith et al., 2020), which suggests a need to avoid long-term hospitalization. From an economic perspective inpatient care is expensive and a takes up a major part of the cost of schizophrenia care, most pronounced in treatment-resistant patients (Kennedy, Altar, Taylor, Degtiar, & Hornberger, 2014).

Although being an important part of the care for persons with psychosis, criticism of both the content and the manner of how inpatient care is delivered has been put forward (Schizophrenia Commission, 2012). While quantitative

to pursue own life goals, and to choose own paths, on equal terms as the rest of the adult population (Davidson, 2016). Influenced by civil and human rights movements it aims at assuring mental health users have access to society, with its privileges and responsibilities, or put in other words: to ensure full citizenship.

studies of patient satisfaction with psychiatric inpatient care suggest high levels of satisfaction, having schizophrenia is related to lower levels of satisfaction (Krupchanka et al., 2017). A special, and problematic, characteristic of psychiatric inpatient care is the use of coercion. Involuntary hospitalization implies a violation of a person's autonomy and integrity and is thus restrictively used according to thorough legislation. Patients presenting with psychosis are at increased risk of being involuntarily admitted (Walker et al., 2019), and account for 30-50% of all involuntary admissions in European countries (Salize & Dressing, 2004). The proportion of involuntary admissions reported for admitted persons with schizophrenia was 43% (world-wide) in a recent meta-analysis (Yang et al., 2020). A slightly lower proportion, 30.5%, was found in the European subsample. Although the experience of involuntary admissions does not necessarily hamper future treatment engagement, patients with such experiences show greater sensitivity to future coercion, both perceived and formal (Jaeger et al., 2013). Some patients recognize the need for coercion and acknowledge the benefits of received treatment, but many question the need to be involuntarily admitted or confined for a longer period of time (Katsakou et al., 2012). Detrimental effects of involuntary admission have been vividly captured in qualitative research. The opposite of recoveryorientation emerges as patients describe the care as disempowering and damaging to their wellbeing (alongside some benefits of needed treatment) (Mueser, Lu, Rosenberg, & Wolfe, 2009; Murphy et al., 2017; Sugiura, Pertega, & Holmberg, 2020). Qualitative studies further elucidate how both voluntarily and involuntarily admitted patients with psychosis describe the inpatient setting as chaotic and unsafe (Fenton et al., 2014; Lilja & Hellzén, 2008), lacking in information (Perry, Taylor, & Shaw, 2007; Sugiura et al., 2020), providing insufficient or disempowering interaction with staff, (Murphy et al., 2017; Sugiura et al., 2020), and leaving patients with experiences of not being respected or seen as human beings (Lilja & Hellzén, 2008).

Similar views are reported from next-of-kin; the care system as a whole emerged as unsupportive and confusing, failing to work proactively, while inpatient services are perceived as providing care in a degrading manner for patients and failing to include next-of-kin in planning and information (Sugiura et al., 2020). Staff in both general psychiatric and psychosis inpatient settings describe a difficult working situation where they try to deliver good care but are limited by high workload which prevents quality time with patients, and an unpredictive or chaotic milieu which leads to reactive rather than proactive actions (Molin, Graneheim, Ringnér, & Lindgren, 2016; Thompson et al., 2019). Detaching from patients or going into self-survival mode have been described as responses to these suboptimal work situations (Molin et al., 2016).

Although there are positive reports of inpatient care as well, often related to good relations with staff (Fenton et al., 2014; Murphy et al., 2017), findings suggest a need to transform inpatient services to better fit the need of patients and next-of-kin, and align with recovery-oriented care (Andreasson & Skärsäter, 2012; Mohr et al., 2018; Murphy et al., 2017). A recent review of patients' experiences identified four areas for improving inpatient care to better promote recovery: high-quality relationships, reducing negative experiences of coercion, health-promoting environment and person-centered encounters (Staniszewska et al., 2019).

#### PERSON-CENTERED CARE

Person-centered care (PCC) is widely recognized as a modern approach to care, associated with high quality of care, and aligning with guidelines and legislation that emphasize patient participation and autonomy (Swedish Code of Statitutes (2017:30), 2017; Swedish Council on Health Technology Assessment (SBU), 2012). PCC has been described as a counterpart to the traditional care organization with patriarchal attitudes and hierarchical structures that give the patient a subordinate position (Ekman et al., 2014). While widely used, the concept has no uniform definition. Several reviews and concept analyses<sup>3</sup> have described PCC in different settings with some reoccurring principles; *empathy*; understanding and supporting the patient, *respect*; when approaching patients and for patients values and choices, *engagement*; committing with time and effort, *relationship*; therapeutically and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A concept analysis is a method for examining the semantic structure of a concept, to clarify what it is, by determining its defining attributes (Walker & Avant, 2005). Examples of frequently cited concept analyses on PCC are those of Morgan and Yoder (2012), and Slater (2006).

trusting partnerships, *communication*; dialogue and information, *shared decision-making*; active patient participation and empowerment, *holistic focus*; a psychosocial context-dependent whole-life perspective, *individualized focus*; attending to the unique person, and *coordinated care*; coordination between professions, care contexts, and being persistent over time (Håkansson Eklund et al., 2019). The goal of PCC has further been aimed at a meaningful life, which differs profoundly from traditional treatment goals like symptomatic remission or patient-centered goals like a functional life (Håkansson Eklund et al., 2019).

#### Starting with the person

The basic assumption of PCC is that health care must recognize the person being a patient. The rationale is found in the philosophical view of what a person is. Carl Roger's work with client-centered therapy is often considered the starting point for PCC. In his practice, the philosophical view of personhood became paramount for the professional (counselor in his case), and was based on assumptions of each person's worth, ability to self-direction and capacity. Rogers' approach built on the view of individual persons as selffulfilling and constructive by nature (Rogers, 2012). In the personalism described by Christian Smith, the human person encompasses an inherent agency and capacity aimed at developing and thriving, as a person. These qualities are present in all human persons, and are not dependent on outer sources to exist, but highly dependent on the outer world, e.g. social relations, to come in to meaning and to thrive (Smith, 2015). Further, striving towards something good and the capacity to strive, implied by both Rogers and Smith, have been described in depth by Paul Ricœur (2011). He attributes the human person linguistic, acting, narrating and ethical capacity, which all exist in a dialogical manner. Everything formulated in speech, done or narrated is directed toward or in response to oneself or another, emphasizing the interrelational nature of human beings. The attribute of ethical capacity, or responsibility, is detrimental for the understanding of the human endeavor. Ricoeur (2011) suggests that all human persons strive towards the good life, but this is intertwined with others as the endeavor includes pursuing a good life both with and for others. Ricoeur thus suggests that a good life cannot be achieved by oneself and not for oneself alone but must be sought with and for the other as well. Smith (2010) presents similar ideas by connecting personal flourishing with the promotion of others' happiness and linking it to the "human goods" that work as motivators for the process of thriving. In Ricoeur's thinking the interrelational aspects involve also "institutions". Institutions refer to society or non-personal relations with which we are in constant dialogue. These institutions must be "just", i.e. providing the prerequisites for striving towards the good life for all, where each human person is responsible for keeping the institutions just (Kristensson Uggla, 2020; Ricœur, 2011).

These ideas, that personhood comprises fundamental capacities for acting and taking one's life forward towards a good goal or a flourishing state, constitute, in my opinion, the motives for PCC to acknowledge patients as competent partners in the care process. I further trace the importance of building therapeutical relations with patients and next-of-kin, put forward in PCC, to the important role that dialogical social relations possess in cultivating the capacity to thrive.

The ideas described above say something fundamental about all humans. The other perspective represented in PCC is the uniqueness of each human person, the identity. Ricoeur addresses this perspective by using the concepts of idem and ipse. Idem represents the identity of something, summarized by what that something is, qualities or attributes that can be shared with others. Ipse represents the identity of someone, who someone is; the core of self that distinguishes one from all else. Ipse shows itself and evolves itself through the dialogical interaction with others (and with the self), building the identity from memories and present experiences, but also from the stories or definitions others attribute to it. So, while a long list of characteristics, or idem, can contribute to the understanding of a person's identity, listening to the stories from and about that person opens up the possibility to understand something about who that person is (Kristensson Uggla, 2020). In PCC this is important as measurements and medical history can describe a patient (addressing idem), but to connect to the person, and understand what that person needs and wants (beyond a plaster on a wounded knee) the patient's story is needed (Ekman, 2022).

#### A framework for person-centered care

The philosophical underpinnings described above guided the development of a framework to facilitate PCC in practice by the Gothenburg Centre for Person-Centred Care (GPCC)<sup>4</sup> (Britten et al., 2020; Ekman et al., 2011). Emphasizing the partnership as a cornerstone, three routines are described:

- 1. Initiating the partnership through the patient's narrative; by listening to the patient the professional can begin to understand something about who this person is, in the conversation between patient and professional a joint understanding of the illness can emerge, and this guides the following work.
- 2. Working the partnership; by using the understanding and information emerging from the narrative (wishes, resources, needs), a care plan can be co-created where the patient's life situation is guiding. The patient is encouraged to become an active part in both planning and enacting the plan. Sharing information and decision-making are important activities.
- 3. Safeguarding the partnership with documentation; writing and updating the health plan in a, for the patient, accessible manner and transferring that plan to other caregivers as the patient moves through the care system.

#### PCC outcomes

There is a growing body of studies exploring outcomes of PCC. In somatic care, PCC interventions have provided desirable patient outcomes such as improved satisfaction and self-efficacy, as well as reduced care consumption in terms of decreased length of hospital stay (Olsson, Jakobsson Ung,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> GPCC is a national interdisciplinary center for PCC research and implementation, organized at the University of Gothenburg. The center was established in 2010 with funds from the Swedish Government for strategic investments in research. More than 100 affiliated researchers (national and international), in several research groups, explore and evaluate different aspects of PCC and its organization and implementation. More information is found at the centers web page: https://www.gu.se/en/gpcc

Swedberg, & Ekman, 2013). However, studies are not consistent in their findings so the evidence of the effectiveness of PCC remains inconclusive. In dementia care, PCC models have been associated with reduced agitation and increased quality of life for residents (Ballard et al., 2018; Chenoweth et al., 2014; Livingston et al., 2014; Yasuda & Sakakibara, 2017). There are several reports showing positive outcomes for care staff working in nursing home settings, including increased wellbeing and satisfaction (Brownie & Nancarrow, 2013; Edvardsson, Fetherstonhaugh, McAuliffe, Nay, & Chenco, 2011; Edvardsson et al., 2015; Lehuluante, Nilsson, & Edvardsson, 2012; Willemse et al., 2015). Within mental health services there are few outcome studies on the implementation of PCC. Outpatient interventions suggests enhanced service engagement, improved adherence, increased satisfaction with care and better social functioning in patients (Malm, Ivarsson, Allebeck, & Falloon, 2003; Stanhope, Ingoglia, Schmelter, & Marcus, 2013). In psychiatric inpatient settings, studies focus on concept analyses or the testing of specific features which might add to increased PCC (Gabrielsson, Sävenstedt, & Zingmark, 2015). Existing evidence suggests that interventions increasing or building on PCC features might decrease use of restraints (Barton, Johnson, & Price, 2009; Wale, Belkin, & Moon, 2011), decrease depression, symptoms of withdrawal and agitation (Doran et al., 2010) and increase satisfaction in staff (Berger, 2006).

#### Important concepts and their relation to PCC

In the psychiatric context there are some major concepts which are frequently referred to in both literature and practice which are tightly related to PCC. I will shortly introduce them, their relation to each other and to PCC.

#### Shared Decision-Making

Shared decision-making (SDM) is the activity and process through which patients impact directly on treatment- and care-decisions. Its definition has expanded from describing an act of sharing information and agreeing on a choice of treatment, to involving the elicitation of patients' preferences, goal setting, engagement in care planning and communication training (Zisman-Ilani, Barnett, Harik, Pavlo, & O'Connell, 2017). Its role in the partnership

between patients and staff, contributing with the practical aspect, establishes SDM at the center of person-centered practice. SDM has been widely researched in psychiatry and proved both feasible and wanted by persons with psychotic disorder, also in inpatient settings (Beitinger, Kissling, & Hamann, 2014; Hamann, Cohen, Leucht, Busch, & Kissling, 2005; Hamann et al., 2020). In a meta-analysis, small positive effects on treatment-related empowerment (using proxy measures such as perceived involvement in decision-making and self-efficacy) have been found for SDM-interventions for patients with psychosis (Stovell, Morrison, Panaviotou, & Hutton, 2016). Neither relation to clinician nor decision-making ability were improved by SDM interventions. SDM as a separate or one-occasion feature tended to be less effective than when incorporated into a treatment program and related to long-term decisions (Joosten et al., 2008). Psychiatric patients' experiences of SDM suggests that personal support and dialogue is needed to promote participation in decision-making, as is attaining knowledge and understanding responsibilities (Dahlqvist Jönsson, Schön, Rosenberg, Sandlund, & Svedberg, 2015).

#### Recovery-oriented practice

I have already introduced recovery-oriented practice, but I will elaborate further on its intertwined relation to PCC and SDM. Recovery is about pursuing a wanted life and thriving in the community, and *all* life domains are involved. In psychiatric services we have traditionally been involved in one part of the health domain: psychiatric illness. As the focus of health has expanded, so has the target for health care interventions; from a narrower focus on psychiatric symptoms, to a wider focus on overall health with or without psychiatric symptoms. This has implications also for shared decisionmaking. In a comprehensive paper on the role of SDM in recovery Davidson, Tondora, Pavlo, and Stanhope (2017) make two important points (among others); 1). Patients with years of contact with psychiatric services are used to being told what to do (more or less explicitly); they are affected by the until recently dominating view of psychiatric illness as severely limiting the prospects of life. Bearing this in mind, it is not an easy task for patients to both trust the willingness of the professionals to release some of their decisionmaking power, and to trust themselves as capable of making life choices. 2). The scope of SDM has changed for health care staff, from being focused on symptom control and making treatment decisions, to involving a commitment to understand the patient in order to assist an insecure or sometimes incapable person to pursue a meaningful life (for the patient, not as defined by the health care professional). The crucial tasks of seeing the patient as a person, and exploring the person's narrative, suggest PCC to be a salient component in successful recovery-orientation.

#### Empowerment

Empowerment has been defined both as a goal, in terms of having *control over* determinants of qualities of life, and as a process, entailing interpersonal processes that contribute to increasing a person's control over those determinants (Tengland, 2008). This involves power which is further clarified by the articulated aim for empowerment, expressed by Cattaneo and Chapman (2010) as "change in a person's social influence". They suggested a model of empowerment (understood as a process), based on six core components; goals (personally meaningful and power-related), self-efficacy (a belief in own ability to accomplish)<sup>5</sup>, knowledge (on how to accomplish), competence (skills needed to accomplish), action (taking the decided measures to accomplish) and impact (accomplishment/failure and feedback). These core components are described as interacting to either enhance or obstruct the empowerment process and are all mediated by social context (Cattaneo & Chapman, 2010). Working in ways that are empowering for the patient thus needs to involve the elicitation of personally meaningful goals, creating opportunity and environment for patients to attain knowledge and develop skills, and encouraging patients to engage (acting towards the goals, e.g. making decisions) (Cattaneo & Chapman, 2010). For staff, this is also suggested to entail limiting one's own power over both the patient and the change process (Tengland, 2008). Self-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Self-efficacy, or trust in one's own ability to accomplish a specific goal, is a key feature in personal change and agency (Bandura, 1986). Bandura (1977) describes four main ways which promote self-efficacy; performance accomplishments which entail own experience of accomplishment, vicarious experience which refers to accomplishments by peers, verbal persuasion which means encouragement, and physiological (or psychological) states which refers to the physical (or psychological) response of a behavior.

efficacy is suggested as an important driver of the process (Cattaneo & Chapman, 2010). In turn, self-efficacy is sensitive to the impact (accomplishment or failure), which gives an example of the interactive relation. The described process highlights the importance of staffs' approaches to patient participation and decision-making.

Improved empowerment can be the result of successful SDM, as SDM involves increasing patients' control over decisions impacting on health and wellbeing (Duncan, Best, & Hagen, 2008). It could also be considered a prerequisite for SDM, as one will likely not engage in such a process without some level of empowerment (Dahlqvist Jönsson et al., 2015; Davidson et al., 2017). The two concepts are intertwined as they share several components and interact but differ in aims. The connection with SDM makes empowerment central in PCC, and further aligns with the PCC focus on capacity and building on patients' own resources (Entwistle & Watt, 2013). As described previously empowerment is also a characteristic of the recovery process (Leamy et al., 2011). That process starts for many people in utter insecurity over one's ability and future, it is therefore crucial to help patients "master" their situation, but to assist in personal recovery this help must be made in a manner that is empowering. Health care staff must therefore encourage patients to find own ways, instill hope of what is possible and assist with tasks that the patient is presently incapable of. This is the way that patients can grow, and take control of their own life situation and thus have the courage to start to envision life goals, and starting to pursue them (Davidson, Rowe, Tondora, O'Connell, & Lawless, 2008). In this sense, working to enhance empowerment in patients is of importance not only to regain mental health, but in the longer run to facilitate true recovery (Leendertse et al., 2021).

Recovery-oriented practice is the organization and delivery of care that aims to promote patients' personal recovery and thriving life in the community. Person-centered care, through its appraisal of personhood and proposed framework for care practice provides a clinical guidance to realize recoveryorientation with empowerment working as an important mediator for patients to take action and pursue recovery. SDM is a prominent feature in realizing PCC and a practical starting point highly interrelated with empowerment.

## THE PERSON-CENTERED PSYCHOSIS CARE INTERVENTION

To align care with recovery-oriented practice, meet patient- and next-of-kin demands, and better adhere to clinical guidelines, the Person-Centered Psychosis Care project, PCPC, was initiated (Goulding, Allerby, Ali, Gremyr, & Waern, 2018). PCPC's overall aim was to increase person-centeredness at the inpatient care wards of the Psychosis Clinic in Gothenburg, a Swedish major city. The project was a collaboration between the Psychosis Clinic and the University of Gothenburg. Based on previous interventions organized by GPCC (Britten et al., 2020; Lindström & Hök, 2020), an educational intervention influenced by participatory design<sup>6</sup> (Spinuzzi, 2005) and Kotter's change theory7 (Kotter, 2012) was launched. Staff were involved as co-creators in order to make use of their collective knowledge and achieve sustainable change. The intervention aimed to advance staff thinking and reform the practical work. This was to be achieved by mixing educational days of theoretical work with practical testing of PCC features in the everyday work at the wards. Change theory was included to equip staff with skills to create and test change projects on the wards, e.g. setting specific and measurable goals that are accepted and realistic with explicit time frames.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Participatory design is rooted in the democratization of knowledge-making and stresses the inclusion of participants (could be workers or members of an organization or community etc.) in the process of invention or development. The tacit knowledge participants hold should be explored and used, which can be done by allowing participants to work from their position, empowering them to evolve practices. This way, new practices, systems, or routines align with the tacit knowledge, rather than implementing a new system which disrupts participants' ability to use their skills optimally.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Drawing on own experiences of changing organizations John Kotter describes eight steps to achieve sustainable change: 1) engage participants to see the urgency of change, 2) find influential persons to lead the change, 3) develop vision and strategy for participants to relate to and 4) comprehensively communicating it, 5) empower all affected to participate in a positive manner, 6) create short-term wins to credit and show participants change is happening, 7) use the short-term wins to create a momentum for the change process (following-through on the vision), and 8) ensure that the change is anchored in the organizations culture.

The educational intervention consisted of six conference days, spread over six months. During these days participants were introduced to the philosophy underpinning PCC and the GPCC framework in lectures. Workshops and reflective sessions in different formats such as Open Space8 (Owen, 2008) and World Café<sup>9</sup> (Brown & Isaacs, 2005) were used to allow participants to process new information and experiences, and find collective targets for change and ways to act. Between educational days participants planned and carried out tasks to practically try out person-centered features. Examples of such tasks were listening to a patients narrative, co-creating a care plan with the patient and documenting that plan. Experiences from these "field testings" were then reflected upon during the following educational day, thus creating new knowledge and ways of thinking by mixing theoretical and practical experiences. To further broaden the understanding, patients and colleagues from the Psychosis Clinic's outpatient units contributed with their respective perspectives on care, the latter as they are working according to a personcentered care model (Malm, Ivarsson, & Allebeck, 2014). External educators from GPCC assisted with their broad knowledge of PCC and contributed with a second perspective; implementation know-how (including organizational psychology, and how to create feasible, evaluable projects).

One third of all inpatient care staff (10 from each ward), with all professions and roles represented, participated in the educational days, thereby being given the role of "change agents", the drivers of change in practice. Staff members

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Open Space Technology is a method, or a meeting strategy, in which an unlimited number of participants share their perspectives and focus on developing solutions to complex problems. The participants are given only a preset theme, after which they themselves set the agenda for the Open Space meeting, which serves as a community-building activity that promotes engagement from all participating.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> World Café Methodology aims to share knowledge among participants and make use of their collective intelligence to find new ways to act or new desirable goals. A large number of participants are divided into smaller groups that are seated around "coffee shop tables" where they discuss pre-set questions in a solutionoriented way. After a pre-set time, participants shift table to continue discussions with a new group, thus "cross-pollinating" ideas and bringing the essence of the former conversation to the next rounds of conversation. At the end, key-insight or topics are visualized or summarized.

who did not take part were involved in the project through knowledge translation activities with course participants, to exchange experiences, ideas, and reflections.

The educational intervention set out to change both staff attitudes and everyday ward tasks. As a mean to that end, participants used their new knowledge and experience to create minor improvement projects to practice person centeredness and incorporate this into everyday practice. For example, staff created new routines that allowed enough time to listen to patients' narratives, a structure for writing care plans together with patients, improved the written information given to patients, and altered round routines to include the patients. The outcomes of the improvement projects were then reflected upon and revised during the ensuing educational days. After the last educational day, the project phased over to an implementation phase. Equipped with knowledge on PCC and how to work with change projects, staff were encouraged to continue the change projects as part of the everyday work, continuously changing practice to improve and refine the care process, also making a plan for the near future to continue the process. Some of the initiated projects proved not to be valuable and "died", while some transformed into new routines or new projects. During the implementation phase, booster PCC sessions were delivered to refresh the knowledge of experienced staff and to include new staff. Supervision sessions were also available for all staff in different forums delivered by professionals with PCC expertise from within the clinic. A steering group, consisting of ward managers, PCC facilitators, researchers and the clinic head had continuous meetings throughout the entire project to follow-up on progress and problems, adding support when needed, such as booster-sessions of PCC or audit of care plans to monitor progress.

The project started with the educational intervention in December 2014 and switched over to an implementation phase in May 2015. There was no real end of the implementation phase as the work to enhance and improve the PCC practice was supposed to continue. For research purposes the implementation phase was considered ended in May 2017, to provide a point of "post-intervention" measuring.

#### THESIS RATIONALE

Inpatient services play an important role in the care process for persons affected by psychotic disorders. Traditional roles for patients and professionals have been determined by a patriarchal hierarchy, informed by the biomedical perspective where professionals have the roles of experts and actors while patients have a more passive role (Ekman et al., 2014). The impact of the recovery movement in psychiatry and the strong push for patient involvement and autonomy by legislation and guidelines are changing the traditional care paradigm (Davidson, 2016; Swedish Code of Statitutes (2017:30), 2017; Swedish Council on Health Technology Assessment (SBU), 2012). Personcentered care aligns with that reorientation as it aims at changing the traditional care organization by putting the person being a patient at the center, elevating his/her role to equal partner in the care process, and focusing on individual visions of health (Ekman et al., 2011). PCC thereby holds promise to reduce the negative consequences of traditional approaches to inpatient care (Staniszewska et al., 2019). The suggested potential for several improvements to the care situation is supported by studies throughout different inpatient settings (Brownie & Nancarrow, 2013; Olsson et al., 2013). Within the psychiatric sub-specialty of psychosis care PCC has primarily been evaluated in outpatient settings (Malm et al., 2014; Stanhope, Tondora, Davidson, Choy-Brown, & Marcus, 2015) and the acute inpatient setting remains insufficiently explored as to how PCC could be incorporated and what it might achieve. The educational intervention and implementation project PCPC, for psychosis inpatient staff, aimed at increasing person-centered care by targeting staff attitudes and practical work. PCPC used a participatory design to engage staff as co-creators of a more person-centered inpatient service. In this thesis PCPC is evaluated to contribute with findings to address the overall research questions of how PCC can be incorporated in inpatient psychosis care and what outcomes it might achieve.

The overall aim of this thesis is to explore outcomes and experiences of the Person-Centered Psychosis Care (PCPC) project, from the perspectives of patients, staff and next-of-kin. Specific aims are:

I.	То	test	wh	ether	PCPC	can	be	related	to	incı	reased	patien	ιt
	empowerment and improved service user satisfaction.												
				<u> </u>						-			-

- II. To test whether PCPC can be related to reduced duration of voluntary and involuntary inpatient stay.
- III. To explore staff understanding of PCC, and their work to increase person-centeredness.
- IV. To explore patients' and next-of-kins' experiences of care delivered after the PCPC intervention.
In this chapter I will describe the different methods, sampling strategies, participants, data collection and analytical procedures that were used through the four studies included in this thesis.

# DESIGN

Different methods were used across the studies to match the specific aims and to gain a wider picture of the achievements of PCPC in terms of both quantitative and qualitative input (Table 1). An uncontrolled before-and-after design was used to compare patient-reported outcomes in empowerment and satisfaction with care (**Study I**), and hospital data for length of voluntary and involuntary care (**Study II**). In **Study III** focus group interviews explored staff experiences of PCPC, while mixed interview types were used with patients and next-of-kin in **Study IV**. The timeline presented in Figure 1 shows time points for the data collection for each study.



Figure 1. Timeline over data collection for Studies I-IV in relation to PCPC intervention and implementation.

	Design	Data	Participants/Sample	Analysis
Study I	Quantitative pre-post comparison	Patient- reported empowerment and satisfaction with care	Inpatients with psychosis, recruited at discharge, n = 50+50	Statistical between- group comparison
Study II	Quantitative pre-post comparison	Length of voluntary and involuntary stay, using hospital administrative registry	Hospitalization episodes for patients with psychosis, n = 366+385	Statistical between- group comparison
Study III	Descriptive qualitative	Staff experiences of PCPC using focus group interviews	Purposefully sampled staff, n = 23	Thematic analysis
Study IV	Descriptive qualitative	Experiences of inpatient care, using focus group and individual interviews	Sub-sample of patients from Study I, n = 5 Next-of-kin to Study I participants, n = 11	Thematic analysis

Table 1. Overview of design, data collection, samples and analysis in Study I-IV

# SETTING

The PCPC project was carried out at the four inpatient wards of the Psychosis Clinic in Gothenburg, Sweden. The clinic is the main provider of psychosis care for the city's population of approximately 650 000 inhabitants. The wards provide acute care as complement to the outpatient services<sup>10</sup> which are the primary caregiver for persons diagnosed with a psychosis diagnosis (F20-F29). Patients are admitted primarily via the city's psychiatric emergency room. The wards have 11-13 beds per ward and are staffed primarily by nurses and assistant nurses who attend to the everyday care. A senior consultant psychiatrist is responsible for all treatments delivered and is assisted in the everyday management by resident and undergraduate physicians. Peer support, physiotherapists, occupational therapists, psychologists and social service counselors are available. Care and treatment decisions are primarily taken at rounds where the psychiatrist has a leading team role, but decisions are in varying extent discussed with the patient at doctor-patient consultations. The outpatient services are involved in discharge planning and some outpatient units/staff have a more active approach of visiting and taking part of the care process throughout the hospital stay.

# SAMPLING & PARTICIPANTS

In **Study I** patients were recruited from the psychosis wards shortly before discharge to include patients with experience of the acute inpatient care who have recovered from the most acute state of the psychotic exacerbation. Patient records were monitored by a researcher and patients about to be discharged were approached by one of the researchers if the planned discharge was confirmed by the ward psychiatrist. To attain measures representing a large part of the patients using the psychosis inpatient services inclusion criteria were wide and exclusion criteria were kept to a minimum. Patients with a psychosis diagnosis, F20-F29 in accordance with the International Classification of Diseases (World Health Organization, 1992), who were over 18 years old were eligible. The two exclusion criteria were cognitive deficits in such severity that understanding study information or giving consent was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Swedish mental health care is organized with primary health care centers as the first line caregiver (for mental illness as well as all other non-acute conditions), serving patients with mild to moderate illnesses. Patients developing severe or complicated conditions are referred to the specialized psychiatric care clinics which provide outpatient care, with access to inpatient care for the management of the most acute phases.

impeded (as assessed by the patient's psychiatrist), and not being able to understand Swedish in such extent that study information and assessments could be understood (as assessed by staff). The latter exclusion criterion was chosen as using interpreters would introduce difficulty when assessing the responses of the Swedish questionnaires, not knowing how translators would interpret all items. Sampling continued until each group (pre- and postintervention) reached 50 participants to assure large enough sample as advised by power calculations, with each sampling period lasting approximately eight months. A total of 185 eligible patients were approached by researchers with study information, and 102 of these signed consent forms to participate. Two were excluded as they did not answer the questionnaires.

There were no differences between participants and non-participants regarding age, gender, or admission status (voluntary/involuntary), but a diagnosis of Schizophrenia (F20) was more common among non-participants while non-organic psychosis (F29) was more common among participants (Fisher's exact test=8.52, two-tailed p=.035) pre-intervention. Characteristics for participants and non-participants for pre- and post-samples are presented in Table 2.

In **Study II** care consumption before and after PCPC was investigated by including all hospitalization episodes exceeding one day in length for all patients with a diagnosis of F20-F29 registered during two year-long measuring periods, one before and one after the intervention and implementation. This yielded a pre-intervention sample of 366 hospitalization episodes, pertaining to 275 unique patients, and a post-intervention sample of 385 episodes (299 patients). As some patients had hospitalization episodes in both the pre- and post-intervention samples, the total number of unique patients consuming the 751 episodes across both samples was 527. Distribution of diagnoses reported for each episode is shown in Table 3. The proportion of hospitalization episodes with care under the Compulsory Care Act was  $\sim 68\%$  for both samples, yielding a subsample for LoIS analysis of 247 hospitalization episodes pre-intervention and 265 episodes post-intervention.

	Pre-implementation		Post-implementation	
	Participants (n=50)	Non- participants (n=48)	Participants (n=50)	Non- participants (n=35)
Mean age (SD)	48.0 (14.7)	49.9 (13.9)	46.9 (15.4)	46.4 (14.1)
Age range	20-78	27-77	19-84	21-88
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Women	23 (46)	24 (50)	20 (40)	15 (43)
Involuntary care	35 (70)	39 (81)	31 (62)	25 (71)
Schizophrenia	16 (32)	26 (54)	15 (30)	13 (37)
Schizoaffective disorder	11 (22)	13 (27)	10 (20)	7 (20)
Delusional disorder	6 (12)	2 (4)	10 (20)	3 (9)
Unspecified nonorganic psychosis	17 (34)	7 (15)	15 (30)	12 (34)

Table 2. Characteristics of Study I participants and non-participants

Table reprinted from the original publication, Allerby et. al 2020, under the Creative Commons Attribution License 4.0.

	<b>Pre-intervention</b>		Post-intervention	
	All episodes, n=366	Involuntary episodes, n= 247	All episodes, n=385	Involuntary episodes, n=265
F20 Schizophrenia, n (%)	155 (42.3)	108 (43.7)	133 (34.5)	89 (33.6)
F21 Schizotypal disorder, n (%)	1 (.3)	-	3 (.8)	2 (.8)
<b>F22 Delusional</b> <b>disorders</b> , n (%)	46 (12.6)	38 (15.4)	42 (10.9)	28 (10.6)
F23 Brief psychotic disorder, n (%)	22 (6.0)	14 (5.7)	24 (6.2)	21 (7.9)
F25 Schizo- affective disorder, n (%)	91 (24.9)	54 (21.9)	73 (19.0)	51 (19.2)
F29 Unspecified psychosis, n (%)	51 (13.9)	33 (13.4)	110 (28.6)	74 (27.9)

Table 3. Distribution of diagnoses registered in pre- and post-intervention cohorts for all included hospitalization episodes and the involuntary care episodes (LoIS-subsample)

For **Study III** recruitment aimed at providing a heterogenous sample of staff to cover experiences of different professions, roles, and ward affiliation. Staff both with and without involvement in the PCPC educational days were included. Open invitations to participate were posted at ward offices, and invitations were emailed to all inpatient staff. The open invitation was followed by purposeful sampling in collaboration with ward managers to achieve representation of diverse staff characteristics. Participant characteristics including professions are presented in Table 4.

		Mean (min-max)
Age*		41.8 (22–63)
Years employed in psychiatric services		9.2 (1–41)
Years employed at clinic		4.4 (.25–17)
		Nr (%)
Gender	Female	13 (56.5)
Profession	Registered nurse	7 (30.4)
	Nurse assistant	13 (56.5)
	Social worker	1 (4.3)
	Psychiatrist	2 (8.7)
Manager position		2 (8.7)
Participated in PCPC educational intervention		11 (47.8)
Experience of any type of PCC training prior to intervention		6 (26.1)
Previous experience of working with PCC		3 (13)

Table 4. Characteristics of staff participating in Study III.

\*Data missing for seven participants, calculations based on all others. Table reprinted from the original publication (Allerby, Goulding, Ali, & Waern, 2022) under the Creative Commons Attribution License 4.0. Patients and next-of-kin were recruited for **Study IV** from participants in **Study I**. All patients recruited post-intervention for **Study I** were asked if they would: 1) accept to be contacted at a later stage with a proposal of an in-depth interview, and 2) provide a name for a next-of-kin that could be approached with the same proposition. In all, 25 patients gave consent to be approached of which five were reachable, accepted participation and showed up for the interview. Two were women, and ages ranged between 25 and 61 years with an average age of 45.6. All 25 next-of-kin named were approached by telephone, with an inclusion rate of ~44%. Non-participation was due to next-of-kin not being reached, not being able to participate because of time or travel restrictions, or not considering themselves involved in the care enough to have anything to contribute. A total of 11 next-of-kin agreed to participate of which nine were women. Ages ranged from 26 to 79 years old, with an average of 56.0. A majority were parents, although siblings, children and friends were represented.

## MEASURES

The measures in **Study I & II** were chosen to reflect different aspects of PCC consequences, representing important outcomes from a patient perspective and from a clinical perspective. The centrality of empowerment as a process in both PCC (Morgan & Yoder, 2012) and personal recovery (Leamy et al., 2011) were reasons for choosing it as primary outcome for **Study I**. Satisfaction of care, was chosen as the secondary outcome as it has been presented as a consequence of PCC (Morgan & Yoder, 2012) and provides a measure of patient approval of the care. As severity of illness, level of function and overall health might affect both sense of empowerment and satisfaction, questionnaires to measure these variables were included.

### Empowerment scale

The Empowerment scale was developed in co-operation with, and to assert empowerment in persons with mental illness, based on their definition of empowerment (Rogers, Chamberlin, Ellison, & Crean, 1997). The 28 items consist of statements reflecting five factors of empowerment; 1) Self-esteem -Self-efficacy (e.g. I generally accomplish what I set out to do), 2) Power - Powerlessness (e.g. I feel powerless most of the time), Community activism -Autonomy (e.g. People have a right to make their own decisions, even if they are bad ones), Optimism - Control over the future (e.g. I can pretty much determine what will happen in my life), and Righteous anger (e.g. Getting angry about something never helps). Items are rated on a Likert type scale ranging from 1 (totally agree) to 4 (totally disagree) and summarized to an item mean total of maximum 4 (some items are reversed in the scoring process). The scale has been validated in samples of persons with serious mental illness (e.g., schizophrenia, major depression) showing excellent to satisfactory reliability and validity (Rogers, Ralph, & Salzer, 2010), also for the Swedish version (Hansson & Björkman, 2005).

#### **Consumer satisfaction**

The secondary outcome in **Study I** was rated using the UKU-ConSat rating scale, first developed for staff to assess patient satisfaction with care (Ahlfors et al., 2000), and later transformed into a self-assessment version for patients (Ivarsson & Malm, 2007). The self-assessment version showed acceptable consistency and satisfactory correlation to the primary scale (Ivarsson & Malm, 2007). The 11-item instrument reflects levels of satisfaction with different aspects of the care such as the possibilities to receive care as needed, the atmosphere of the ward, attitude of staff, possibilities to receive information and to participate in decision-making, as well as satisfaction with prescribed medication. Items are rated on a seven-point scale, ranging from -3 (very bad/negative/little) to +3 (very good/positive/much). Items are summarized into a total score, the higher the score, the higher the satisfaction.

### Covariates

Severity of psychotic symptoms was rated using the Remission sub-scale (RSS) of the Positive and Negative Symptoms Scale (PANSS) (Kay, Fiszbein, & Opler, 1987; Opler, Yang, Caleo, & Alberti, 2007). Based on a structured interview with the patient, the assessor rates eight core symptoms for schizophrenia from 1 (missing) to 7 (extreme) according to a manual, yielding a total score between 8 and 56. We used the rating as a continuous variable.

The Global Assessment of Functioning scale (GAF) was used to assess patients' level of functioning (Endicott, Spitzer, Fleiss, & Cohen, 1976). Based on knowledge of the patient's activity and everyday functioning a score is made on a 100-point scale, with higher points indicating higher functioning.

Overall health was measured using the EQ-5D scale (EuroQol Group, 1990), a self-rating scale developed to capture health through five items reflecting mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression, along with a Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) of perceived health. The ratings are calculated to an index ranging from -.594 to 1, the latter reflecting optimal health. The scale is used generically and has shown reasonable validity when tested specifically within a psychosis sample (König, Roick, & Angermeyer, 2006).

### Care consumption

The primary outcomes in **Study II** were length of hospital stay (LoS) and length of involuntary stay (LoIS). LoS was measured as the number of days from admission to discharge (both voluntary and involuntary days included). LoIS represents only the involuntary days, that is the number of days with treatment under the Compulsory Care Act (Swedish Code of Statitutes (1991:1128), 1991). Both outcomes were calculated per hospitalization episode, not per patient, meaning that an individual patient could be represented several times if readmitted during the measurement period.

The secondary measure in **Study II** was rapid readmission defined as readmission to a psychiatric clinic within 14 days of discharge. This was chosen to reflect patients' stability at the time of discharge, or whether sufficient support was planned and engaged when discharged. This measure was included to check whether results in the primary outcomes might have consequences in terms of readmission.

## **DATA COLLECTION & PROCEDURE**

Data collection for **Study I** started with the signing of a consent form after the patient had been given study information verbally and in writing. One of the researchers sat down with the patient, most often in a room at the ward, where questionnaires and assessment interviews were conducted. The researcher assisted patients with filling out the questionnaires or reading items if needed. Data collection took approximately 45-60 minutes per patient. Information needed to complete covariate-assessments were gathered from staff; GAF rating was conducted by a staff member who knew the patient well, who also assisted in the RSS rating. Background data were collected from medical journals.

Data for **Study II** was retrieved from the administrative register of the Psychosis Clinic, by administrative staff at the clinic.

In **Study III** and **IV** focus group interviews were conducted to collect data. A focus group is basically a *group* of individuals gathered to discuss a specific phenomenon or shared experience, in a *focused* discussion. This is an alternative to individual interviews that capitalizes on the gains of social interaction to provide a rich data set with aspects that might not emerge in single interviews (Guest, Namey, Taylor, Eley, & McKenna, 2017; Kitzinger, 2007). The discussion is facilitated by a researcher who has a more downplayed role than in individual interviews, facilitating all participants' contributions to the discussion and assuring that the discussion retains its focus on the topic (Klingberg & Hallberg, 2021).

Recruited participants for **Study III** were invited to one of six focus group interviews, each participant participating once. We chose localities close to the wards for easy access from the participants' workplace. Focus groups started with the reading of study information and signing of consent forms along with gathering of background data. Two researchers attended each interview, one leading the interview, and one assisting and monitoring. Researchers presented themselves and their role in the PCPC project. The format for the interview was introduced, emphasizing the importance of a friendly atmosphere and the requirement that interview content not be spread to others. A semi-structured interview guide, created by the researchers, and guided by Kvale & Brinkmann (2014) was employed. The guide covered the research question of how staff had engaged with PCPC in terms of understanding PCC and practicing it, with

questions such as "What is person-centered care to you?", or "Describe downsides or problems in working person-centered". The researcher leading the interview used follow-up questions and engaged less talkative participants to attain a depth and range in the interview material. Each interview was concluded by asking if there were something participants felt they wanted to discuss further or add that had not been approached.

A similar approach was adopted for the focus groups with next-of-kin in Study IV. These focus groups were held at a research facility near the city center for easy access. Due to the inability, or preference, to join at the time set for focus groups, some interviews were instead individual and conducted either at the research facility or in the home of the participant. Patients participating were all individually interviewed after discharge, and all chose to do the interview in the hospital facilities (not at the wards). All interviews (focus group and individual) started as described above with collection of consent, background data and a presentation of the study, with the addition of "social rules" for the focus group participants. Semi-structured interview guides were used that covered the research question "how do patients/nextof-kin perceive the inpatient care following a PCC intervention?". The drafting of the next-of-kin guide was guided by Krueger's structure for focus group interviews (Krueger, 2014). Questions covered the perception of todays' inpatient care in general, personal experiences and perceived changes. The patient guide was constructed with the same reference and procedure as described for Study III. Questions for patients included "What was it like to arrive at the ward?", "What did you do on an average day at the ward?", "What are your thoughts of the care and treatment you received?"

# DATA ANALYSES

### Statistical analyses

All quantitative data was analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics, version 28. Descriptive statistics were used to present variables with means and standard deviations for normally distributed variables, and medians for skewed data. Group differences were tested using Student's t-test, Mann Whitney U-test or ANCOVA for continuous variables, while Chi<sup>2</sup> goodness of fit, risk

differences with confidence intervals, and Fisher's exact test were used for categorical variables. Significance was assumed for p-values lower than .05, following the golden standard for significance cut-off (Björk, 2011).

### Qualitative analyses

We chose a thematic analysis for **Studies III** and **IV** as it suited our purposes of finding themes, in staff, service user and next-of-kin descriptions of their experiences. The six steps described by Braun and Clarke (2006) guided the analysis although adding sub-themes. The analyses were conducted at a semantic level, keeping interpretation close to the explicit expressions in the data. In a first step the data was made familiar by re-listening to all recordings and proofing the transcripts (as they were transcribed by a professional transcription service), and all transcripts were read in whole. In a second step initial coding was initiated as meaning-bearing pieces of text were marked with codes throughout all transcripts. In a third step the search for themes began as codes were compared, and different groupings tried out to capture mainand sub-themes. Preliminary themes were then checked against all meaningbearing units and the whole transcript, adapting and moving codes to tighten main- and sub-themes in the fourth step. The themes were further adjusted until all codes had been included and all themes could be defined and named in the fifth step. The sixth step consisted of report writing, where a final overview of the thematization was done and some final adjustments were made. In Study III, the first interview was double coded and compared between two researchers, and differences discussed until reaching consensus. The remaining coding was done by one researcher. The thematization process involved a continuous discussion leading to the setting of the final themes. The coding and analysis software program NVivo12 was used to manage all steps following the initial coding. None of NVivos automation tools were used.

**Study IV** involved two separate analyses, one for data from patients and one for next-of-kin data. Both analyses followed the procedure described above. The thematic structures for both analyses were compared and a large overlap

was observed so results were integrated. All analyses were made manually for Study IV.

#### Epistemological assumption and trustworthiness

I have taken a realist perspective when considering the qualitative data, meaning an assumption that it is possible to reach a fair understanding of "the real world" from the participants' descriptions and experiences, without conducting a more comprehensive study of the cultural context or social structures (Braun & Clarke, 2006). However, I also adhere to a hermeneutic view of how to understand that reality. The hermeneutic view suggests that we, as humans, interpret and understand everything around us through our preconceptions, which means there is no way to be completely objective. New understandings can however emerge through a process of moving between the past and the present, between the parts and the whole (Dahlberg, 2008). As our history and experiences will guide how we chose to ask questions, what aspects of a phenomena pop out and what meaning we attribute an event, it will impact on the outcome of research. To report authors' preconceptions or measures of reflexiveness is encouraged when publishing qualitative research, (O'Brien, Harris, Beckman, Reed, & Cook, 2014; Tong, Sainsbury, & Craig, 2007) as this gives the reader a chance to assess what has influenced the analysis, thus increasing the credibility of the study (Dodgson, 2019). Although impossible to supply a full picture of the preconditions affecting the data collection and analysis in Studies III and IV, I will shortly describe some characteristics of the research team. My own preunderstanding is much affected by the many years of work with persons with psychotic disorders. Although working mainly in the outpatient settings, there have been many visits to and some work in the inpatient settings leaving both positive and negative impressions. I have further experiences as a next-of-kin to a person with serious mental illness, where I felt much left out. My previous research has involved patients with psychosis and caregiver burden (Allerby et al., 2015; Brain et al., 2014). In PCPC I was not engaged in the educational intervention and had no previous relation to any of the participants in Study IV but was briefly known by some in Study III. All members of the PCPC research team had professional experiences of psychiatric care (involving both positive and negative impressions), and research areas (outside PCPC) such as suicidology, e-health support for mentally ill and psychotic conditions. Multiple researchers participated in the different stages of the studies which reduces the influence of personal bias. The fact that several researchers were involved enhanced reflexiveness since interpretations of data were questioned and discussed, forcing a reflection on what may guide certain interpretations (Graneheim & Lundman, 2004).

# ETHICS

All studies were approved by the Regional Ethics Board in Gothenburg, registration number 773-13. The studies adhere to the principles of the Helsinki Declaration (World Medical Association, 2001) in putting the good of each patient first, protecting their rights, integrity, and privacy. All participants in Study I, III & IV received study information (verbally and in writing), including statements on voluntary participation, the possibility to withdraw without consequences, that decisions regarding study participation would not affect the care, and that data would be anonymized. All signed a consent form before participation. Study II involved hospital administrative data where no consent was required. To avoid the risk of enrolling patients in Study I unable to properly understand study information (due to cognitive dysfunction) patients potentially unfit, as assessed by psychiatrist, were not approached. In Study III & IV quotes used in the publication to visualize the content of the themes were cited using code names only, leaving out any participant characteristics to avoid risk of recognition by fellow colleagues and readers. All data, electronic and material, have been kept in password protected and locked spaces to protect against sensitive material coming into wrong hands or being destroyed by accident.

The Helsinki Declaration further stipulates that potential risks must be assessed and reduced, and weighted against benefits (World Medical Association, 2001). In **Study I** we took into account the vulnerable state of patients recovering from severe psychosis by limiting the number of questionnaires. We did not anticipate that our study questions would cause discomfort, but ward staff were available to provide support should this occur. There were however no reports of patients needing such support. In **Study** 

**IV** participants were instructed to get in touch if they needed support following the interview. As person-centered care is scarcely studied in the psychosis inpatient setting, and holds potential for much needed changes, we deemed that the risk of discomfort that study participation might evoke did not outweigh the benefits of the study.

The PCPC studies were registered while data collection was ongoing at ClinicalTrials.gov, identifier: NCT03182283.

In this chapter I summarize the results for each study.

## PATIENT REPORTED OUTCOMES

In Study I descriptive statistics showed no differences between the pre- and post-intervention sample on age, gender, diagnosis, severity of psychosis or involuntary care status. Two of the included covariates, GAF and EQ-5D showed higher levels of functioning and overall health in the pre-intervention sample. We found a significant correlation between these variables (Pearson r= .31, p = .002) and as this could represent an overlap in what was measured, we chose to include only EQ-5D as a covariate in the main analysis, as this measure was patient-reported. After adjusting for the covariate, estimated marginal mean for the empowerment score was higher in the post intervention sample, 2.99 (SE = .047) as compared to pre-intervention sample 2.87 (SE .048), but the result was not statistically significant, F(1, 96) = 2.2, p = .142, $eta^2 = .02$ . Our primary hypothesis was thus not supported. Using the same covariate, the ANCOVA for patient satisfaction with care showed a significant difference between the samples with higher satisfaction in the postintervention sample; 11.71 (SE = 2.15), vs the pre-intervention sample; 4.46 (SE = 2.15), F (1, 96) = 4.29, p = .041, giving support for our second hypothesis. The effect size was low,  $eta^2 = .04$ .

## CARE CONSUMPTION

In **Study II** the length of hospital stay (LoS) had a mean duration of 40.8 (CI = 34.9-46.6) days in the pre-intervention sample, and 45.9 (CI = 41.7-50.0) days in the post-intervention sample. Corresponding means for length of involuntary stay (LoIS) was 32.3 (CI = 26.5-38.1) pre-intervention and 35.9 (CI = 31.7-40.1) post-intervention. These variables were heavily skewed in distribution which led us to use a non-parametric test. The Mann-Whitney U-Test showed a significant difference between samples, with longer LoS in the

post-implementation sample (Md = 34.2, n = 385) as compared to preintervention sample (Md = 25.2, n = 366), U = 81409.5, z = 3.68, p < .0005, r = .13. The Mann Whitney U-test was again used to compare LoIS, finding a difference between samples with longer LoIS in the post-intervention sample (Md = 39.0, n = 265) as compared to the pre-intervention sample (Md = 28.0, n = 247), U = 37585.5, z = 2.91, p = .004, r = .13. To control the influence of hospitalization episodes pertaining to patients represented in both pre- and post-intervention samples, these episodes were excluded in a post-hoc analysis. The results of these Mann Withey U-tests were similar but more pronounced for both LoS and LoIS. In an explorative analysis the proportions of inpatient days spent under the Compulsory Care Act out of all inpatient days were calculated and compared in a cross tabulation, calculating risk ratios. We could not assume a difference between samples from the risk difference of .003 (90.6% vs 90.3%), CI = -.006; .012.

The proportion of hospitalization episodes followed by rapid readmission, our secondary outcome, was 7.7% in the pre-intervention sample as compared to 5.2% in the post-intervention sample. A chi-square goodness-of-fit test showed that this was not a significant difference,  $\chi^2$  (1, n=385) = 3.4, p=.065. A post hoc analysis excluding patients represented in both samples showed similar results.

### STAFF EXPERIENCES

The result from the thematic analysis in **Study III** provided us with three main themes with a total of ten sub-themes, all shown in Table 5.

These themes reflected different aspects of the PCPC intervention and implementation. *From theory to practice* showed how participants understood PCC, what expectations they held for PCC and further how they enacted person-centeredness in the everyday care at the wards. PCC was thought of primarily as an approach, rather than a method, in which the person being a patient became the focus of interest. Patients being resourceful and active in the care process emerged as a core feature of PCC. This view also enacted in practice as staff worked to facilitate patient participation and utilized patient

resources to encourage them to be active. The patient-staff conversation emerged as the starting point for person-centered encounters where staff consciously engaged in an individualized manner.

Table 5. Themes and sub-themes in Study III; Staff experiences of PCPC

From theory to practice					
The theoretical understanding of person-centered care		Expectations on nereasing person centeredness	Person-ce put into	Person-centeredness put into practice	
Experiences of change					
Improved relations er	Patient ngagement	Professional growth	A better care environment	Lack of change	
Barriers and facilitators for person-centered care					
Barriers			Facilitators		

Table reprinted from the original publication (Allerby et al., 2022) under the Creative Commons Attribution License 4.0.

In *Experiences of change* improved relations with patients was described as a result of the person-centered approach, also leading to more active patients. Some staff experienced a positive evolvement of their professional role. The overall care environment was regarded as improved. The ward climate became more open and calmer; threatening situations and coercion could be averted, and staff found smoother ways to work. A few participants however addressed the lack of change on either the personal or ward level.

Within the theme *Barriers and facilitators for person-centered care* the fuzziness of the concept PCC and the absence of explicit routines (relating to the choice of participatory design) were described as difficulties. The implementation process was slowed down by everyday tasks which had to be prioritized over the staff-initiated intervention activities to promote change. Diverse opinions

and lack of commitment on the part of some care professionals (in particular psychiatrists) were other barriers described during the interviews. Difficulties relating to patient interactions were primarily related to the situations that warranted the use of interpreters. Informal enthusiasts and formally designated PCC resource-persons were perceived as facilitating, as was the across-ward focus on a care planning routine. Facilitators were also described in terms of staff qualities. Adopting a person-centered communication style (among staff) was such a quality; continuous discussions resolved disagreements and helped staff advance a joint understanding. Having diversity among staff and being solution-orientated was also put forward as facilitating.

## PATIENT AND NEXT-OF-KIN EXPERIENCES

In **Study IV** two main themes were found which described different aspects of the care experience: the *Care environment*, and the *Care quality*, both containing three sub-themes each.

Participant experiences of the care environment clustered around the *physical* environment, the psychosocial environment, and the organization of staff. The physical milieu was described mostly in negative terms and was found to be cramped or crowded, with few private, safe spaces or rooms for conversation. Positive statements stemmed from experiences of single rooms that could be personalized. The psychosocial environment was described in diverse statements, with some reflecting a tough or aggressive milieu, and others saying they experienced the ward as calm and nice. Staff approach affected the psychosocial environment and was often considered good, described with terms such as empathic, kind and welcoming. There were however also experiences of staff being distant or unavailable, or failing to meet the patients or next-of-kin in their emotional state. The third sub-theme concerning organization of staff was described by next-of-kin only. Again, perceptions differed with some finding the level of staffing to be robust and others relating a constant lack of staff. Similarly, some noted the disruption of relations with staff in connection with vacations and other situations in which contact persons changed<sup>11</sup>. Others emphasized the continuity of relations as the patient met the same staff during previous admissions. Other staff-related negative aspects from the perspective of the next-of-kin included a general lack of knowledge about the care of persons with psychotic disorders, as well as a power hierarchy with the psychiatrist at the top.

The quality of care was reflected through the care content, communication with staff, and *involvement* in the care process. Both involuntary care and medication were described by several participants, and this was mainly in negative terms. Involuntary treatment was perceived like a punishment. Care consisting primarily of medication was one criticism, and others reflected that decisions regarding medication were taken without the patient's approval or preferences in mind. There were however some statements showing that both involuntary care and medication were sometimes retrospectively perceived as necessary and contributing to positive outcomes. One content of care that was considered supportive was the contact person. However, problems emerged in terms of the organization of staff which resulted in the contact person not being on the ward for several days. Others did not connect with their appointed contact person or were unaware that they had one. Communication was described in many ways and participants were content when communication existed, was informative and was working to include patients or next-of-kin. Such communication could facilitate recovery. Discontent arose when information from staff was lacking, information to next-of-kin disregarded, and when communication was used by staff in an oppressive manner. Patients further described difficulties in receiving information and engaging in communicative processes during an acute psychotic episode. Participants depicted both experiences of wanting to participate in care but being blocked in different ways, and experiences of being pressured to participate although not wanting or being able to. Some participants related positive experiences, reflecting on how they felt an important part of the care

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> A contact person is a staff member specifically assign to a patient as the primary contact. S/he is responsible for managing requests from the patient and keeping contact with next-of-kin and care partners. All patients are assigned contact persons.

team, and that staff worked to include all patients, even those who were involuntarily committed, in the care process as much as possible.

In this chapter I discuss the findings from **Study I-IV** to achieve a comprehensive understanding of the experiences and the outcomes of the PCPC project and their contribution to the overall research question regarding PCC in inpatient psychosis care. However, I start with addressing the methodological considerations as they include some important limitations to how the findings can be interpreted and used, and as such are important to keep in mind when considering the discussion of study findings.

# METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATONS

This thesis adopted a multi-method design to pursue different kinds of findings to answer the overall aim. These methods however come with different limitations, and I will go through our considerations regarding them.

## Degree of implementation

A first major limitation, affecting all four studies, is the uncertainty of "how much" PCC was implemented. Measuring the level of PCC is quite a complex enterprise. Several aspects need to be considered. Firstly, to what extent have the thinking and attitude of staff changed to become more person-centered? Secondly, to what extent has this become visual in the practical work; what "dose" of PCC was administered to the patients, and how systematically was this done? A third aspects is the extent to which patients benefited or were affected by the changes; were the changes relevant to increase PCC from a patient point of view? There are today many scales that measure different components of person-centered care, depending on which definition of PCC is used (De Silva, 2014), with some taking a somewhat "overall" stance, aiming to capture person-centered attitudes and climate (Edvardsson, Koch, & Nay, 2010; Edvardsson, Sandman, & Rasmussen, 2008; Sjögren, Lindkvist, Sandman, Zingmark, & Edvardsson, 2012). Capturing the level of PCC more thoroughly is a larger and complicated task that would entail observation of

every meeting between patients and staff. Combining different kinds of tools and targeting different aspects of PCC is today the most sound way to capture PCC (De Silva, 2014). This study however lacks any measurement of these aspects of implementation which leaves us without quantitative knowledge on the success of the intervention. One reason for this was the lack of measurements validated for psychiatric inpatient settings. Another reason was the tough prioritizing of what questionnaires to distribute to patients. We tried to narrow this as much as possible as many patients in our settings are cognitively affected and still in symptomatic recovery. As an example of this, a measurement of person-centered climate (Edvardsson et al., 2008) was added in the set of questionnaires to post-interventions patients (in an effort to validate this instrument for future use in inpatient psychiatry), it however turned out that a large part of these ratings were left unanswered as many patients simply could not manage to concentrate after doing the primary ratings. Recruiting staff for a similar rating would provide some estimates but this was not included in the ethical approval. Future studies should consider ways to incorporate some measure of PCC.

#### Design of Study I & II

A second major limitation concerns Study I & II and the uncontrolled before/after design. This choice of design prevents us from drawing firm conclusions regarding intervention outcomes. The golden standard for testing effects, a randomized controlled trial (Craig et al., 2013), was however not possible. Randomizing individual patients to PCC or a control group was not feasible as the intervention sets out to change staff's mindset, something that cannot be turned on or off for different patients within a ward. Randomizing wards, using one or two of the four psychosis wards as controls, would have undermined the power, and risked contamination and erroneous effect sizes, as patients and sometimes staff move between the wards. Further, an RCT study would have required a considerably prolonged recruitment period. A cluster randomized controlled trial would have surpassed these problems but requires a much larger trial at the regional or even national level and comes with difficulties such as difference between clusters in measures difficult to control for, such as readiness for change, evolvement of intervention and the impact of the local organization on implementation). As discussed by Craig et al. (2013), reflecting on how to evaluate complex interventions, there is not always the possibility of adopting a rigorous experimental approach when implementing a complex intervention, but evaluating is important and strategies, such as using multiple methods with different weaknesses, could contribute to enhanced design. We decided to go ahead with the weaker design in **Study I & II** as the tentative results from these studies could be discussed further in the light of the findings of the qualitative **Studies III & IV**, contributing with triangulated insights to the scarce literature on PCC in the psychosis setting. Considering the complexity of PCC and its implementation in a complex setting like ours, alignment with the Medical Research Councils (MRC) guidance on development and implementation of complex interventions (Craig et al., 2013; Skivington, Matthews, Craig, Simpson, & Moore, 2018) is desirable, as this outlines measures to entangle complexity and more precisely use different methods to strengthen findings, e.g. the use of process evaluation.

### Lack of control of confounders

**Study II** is to be interpreted with great caution as our hospital administrative data did not include important socio-demographic variables such as ethnicity, nor were there clinical parameters like symptom ratings and measures of cognitive function. Confounders could be checked for the subsample who provided such data in **Study I**.

## Choice of measures

Choosing the Empowerment scale was at the time a natural choice as this instrument is founded on mental health users' own perceptions of empowerment, and it is validated for persons with severe mental illness and applied in mental health research (Rogers et al., 1997; Rogers et al., 2010). Also, the Swedish version has been psychometrically tested showing good internal consistency (Hansson & Björkman, 2005). While the Empowerment scale covers recovery-oriented phenomena such as thriving and having control over one's societal life, it does not specifically target interactions with health care. While the wider scope of the Empowerment scale is a highly relevant one, it is not optimal for the measurement of change in empowerment in the context

of inpatient health care. Recent instruments that include an explicit focus on health care, not available at the time of our study initiation, would be more appropriate for future studies. One example is the Netherlands Empowerment List (Boevink, Kroon, Delespaul, & Van Os, 2016) which might have greater potential to evaluate benefits of future person-centered care interventions.

Rating satisfaction comes with some considerations as well. Early works on the measurement of satisfaction with care suggested that actual outcomes of care interventions might only explain a small percentage of patient-rated satisfaction. Instead, ratings might reflect a perception of improved health status (Kane, Maciejewski, & Finch, 1997). Other have suggested that satisfaction might not be an appropriate measurement of quality of care (at least not in an objective way) as patient ratings are affected by their subjective expectations of care and personal preferences (Sixma, Kerssens, Campen, & Peters, 1998). While qualitative data might better illustrate what aspects of care are causing dissatisfaction (Duggins & Shaw, 2006), ratings covering both the process and outcome of care could supply an assessment of the quality of care, and the UKU-ConSat was constructed to do that (Ahlfors et al., 2000). We took into account possible confounding variables such as age, legal status and severity of symptoms as suggested by a previous review (Miglietta, Belessiotis-Richards, Ruggeri, & Priebe, 2018), we however did not specifically measure depression which has been pinpointed as a confounder on its own. Patients' expectations of care are not covered by this instrument, but we have no reason to believe that patients would have lower expectations in the post-intervention period.

We used the Remission sub-scale of the PANSS interview (RSS) to shorten interview time by concentrating on the core symptoms of schizophrenia (Kay et al., 1987). In doing so we have no data pertaining to psychotic symptoms beyond the sub-scale selection, and the general symptoms often associated with psychotic disorders, e.g. depression (Kay et al., 1987).

### Choice of qualitative analysis

Our aims in the two qualitative studies were to explore staff experiences from the PCPC project (Study III) as well as patient and next-of-kin experiences of inpatient care after the intervention (Study IV) We chose to conduct thematic analyses as this method 1) provides a sound structure for finding and reporting themes or patterns, and 2) allows for analysis of texts covering broad areas (not dependent on narrowing the scope to explore a one defined phenomenon or aspect)(Braun & Clarke, 2006). This was suitable as we wanted to report a comprehensive description of all aspects of the interviews. This broad scope was pursued at the cost of a more in-depth examination of each aspect in the material, giving a rich, yet "superficial" account of the material. Looking ahead it would be possible to return to the staff and next-of-kin interviews to look more closely at a narrowed scope. The interviews with service users provided less rich descriptions and a deeper analysis approach would thus be less applicable. Conducting more in-depth analyses would provide another type of insights that could more profoundly tell us something about how PCC is understood, practiced, or related.

## On trustworthiness and reflexivity

I would argue that all research is to some extent affected by the researchers involved as their preunderstanding will affect the formation of research questions, choice of method and analysis, and interpretation of results. This is of course most explicit in qualitative research where the researcher as a person is integrated in the analytical process, balancing the subjective input with the demands of an objective analysis (Graneheim & Lundman, 2004) in which the personal bias is impossible to completely sidestep. While several measures were taken to pursue trustworthiness in the qualitative studies, as described previously, no formal strategies such as audit trail or triangulation were employed. An informal member checking took place as staff was invited to discuss finding from **Study III** when preliminary findings were presented on the wards. Overall, staff agreed with the presented findings; no objections emerged, and analyses were finalized. The sampling strategy for Study III does not align with Krueger's (2014) suggestion that randomized sampling and homogeneous groups are preferable to allow for generalization of findings (external validity). It however contributed to internal validity as the strategic sampling ensured a heterogenic sample, increasing the possibilities of finding different experiences. Further, the generalizability of qualitative findings is not straightforward. Reflexivity again plays a major role in combination of well-described context and participants to allow the reader to judge whether findings are transferable to other settings (Graneheim & Lundman, 2004; Malterud, 2001). An important reflection on the overall positive experiences reflected in Study III is that the sample might have consisted of staff generally more positive to PCPC, which could be a result of the sampling strategy in which staff members less interested or supportive of PCPC would not have volunteered for participation. The sampling for Study IV was limited by the practical decision (and in accordance with our ethical approval) to recruit from the Study I sample, and the sample size turned out small. This might affect the result as a larger sample would most likely have contributed additional aspects and experiences of the care delivery. The material however included a wide range of experiences which provided insight into the uneven "real life" delivery of PCC following the PCPC intervention. Some participants declined due to time or travel restraints. Future studies could consider using online interviews to increase participation. Studies reporting on online interviews through digital services are overall positive as targeted populations are generally positive to the time effectiveness, and the distant but still visual connection these applications supply (Deakin & Wakefield, 2014; Gray, Wong-Wylie, Rempel, & Cook, 2020). Interview quality is comparable to the face-to-face set up (Greenspan, Gordon, Whitcomb, & Lauterbach, 2021; Halliday, Mill, Johnson, & Lee, 2021). There are however considerations to be made relating to digital literacy, technical preparations, and limitations related to the interaction by the digital interface (Adams - Hutcheson & Longhurst, 2017; Falter et al., 2022; Greenspan et al., 2021).

# UNDERSTANDING THE FINDINGS

#### The status quo of empowerment

Empowerment is a central feature of PCC, but the somewhat higher level of empowerment found in the post-intervention sample was not statistically significant (Study I), and thus considered unchanged. The lack of change in empowerment could be due to the scope of the Empowerment scale, as discussed in the methodological considerations above. Other interpretations could be that PCPC could not affect patient empowerment, or that it could but was insufficiently implemented to demonstrate change at the group level. Findings from Study III indicate that patients changed their behavior and became more active or demanding, which staff related to patients being included in the work with care plans and getting more information about their care. Similar experiences have been reported from medical wards after the implementation of the GPCC model of PCC; well-informed patients aware of their influence and capability, was suggested to have higher engagement in selfcare (Wolf et al., 2017). Other studies describe patients as being more independent with PCC in place, while showing less self-esteem and becoming passive in units where PCC were not in place (Fridberg, Wallin, & Tistad, 2021). These are indications that the Gothenburg model of PCC impacts on empowerment and I will return to the empowerment model described in the introduction to look more closely at how this can be understood in the PCPC project. As a reminder, the model describes six interacting components; meaningful goals, self-efficacy, knowledge, competence, action and impact, which, affected by the social context, contributes to empowerment (Cattaneo & Chapman, 2010). Staff interviews (Study III) illustrate efforts to engage patients in SDM and participation by enhancing information, preparing them for meetings, and co-creating care plans or "letting them" do practical tasks themselves (instead of taking over). These examples target the self-efficacy (partially), knowledge, competence and action components. There is less evidence from the staff interviews regarding goals and how the impact component was handled in terms of how patients' attempts to co-decide or take action was received. Patients taking a more active role was however described in positive terms, indicating positive feedback from at least some staff. Some patients and next-of-kin described being invited and encouraged to participate, but others experienced that decisions were taken without their influence; next-of-kin felt shut out, and patients felt told what to do. So, while PCPC seem to have the potential of increasing empowerment by addressing the components, the heterogenic delivery described in **Study IV** suggests insufficient implementation. Negative impact on attempts to accomplish a goal could decrease empowerment (Cattaneo & Chapman, 2010), which could further explain our finding of status quo. While some patients might have experienced greater empowerment, some patients might have been disempowered by being encouraged to engage by some staff but then having negative impact from other, e.g. being told what to do at the care planning meeting instead of having a true say.

The social context also needs some exploration as it holds major influence over the empowerment process, especially to the impact component (Cattaneo & Chapman, 2010). Cattaneo and Chapman (2010) note that barriers for empowerment involve power dynamics, which often become clear when the impact is evaluated. The effects of such power dynamics is touched upon by Davidson et al. (2017) as they described how the starting point for many psychiatric patients entering the recovery-oriented process involves dealing with self-stigma and the legacy of being told what to do. They suggest that great trust must exist for patients with a long experience of psychiatric care to engage in sincere co-planning. A relevant question is then how staff can put in the time and effort needed to show the individual patient that the inclusion of him/her in the care planning process is a genuine attempt to transfer power and promote that patient's own agenda. This is especially challenging considering the acute, sometimes hectic or chaotic, psychosis inpatient setting. Study IV gave some examples of staff being too busy or distant from patients and psychiatrists not engaging in PCC, although there were also reflections of staff "being there" for the patients. Study III describes not all staff engaging in PCPC or explicitly not wanting to work in a PCC manner which suggest the social context (in terms of the care environment) does not systematically work in favor of patient empowerment. Previous research shows that professionals regard patients limited decision-making ability a hinder for SDM (Beitinger et al., 2014) while patients describe the SDM situation as a struggle to be recognized as a competent and equal partner (Dahlqvist Jönsson et al., 2015).

There is here an important tension between a patient's need to be trusted as a capable partner and the care professional's complicated trust in the patient's ability. Such tensions need further exploration in future studies.

#### Improving satisfaction with care

The finding of increased patient satisfaction (Study I) following the intervention supported our hypothesis. While it might be contributed to factors outside our intervention there are indications from the qualitative studies aligning with previous research which supports the suggestion that PCPC improved patients' satisfaction with care. A recent review of PCC outcomes found that good work environment was a defining factor for greater patient satisfaction (van Diepen, Fors, Ekman, & Hensing, 2020). Ward atmosphere has also been reported to improve satisfaction in inpatient psychiatry (Middelboe, Schjodt, Byrsting, & Gjerris, 2001). Evaluations by psychosis inpatients further suggest a strong association between satisfaction with care and perceptions of the care environment (Røssberg, Melle, Opjordsmoen, & Friis, 2006). Røssberg et al. (2006) found that high levels of patient involvement and practical orientation, along with low levels of angry/aggressive behavior and staff control were the most influential factors. Similar findings are reported from qualitative studies showing that fear of violence, lack of autonomy, patient-staff communication and ward routines impact on satisfaction with care in inpatients with psychotic illness (Duggins & Shaw, 2006). The Study III sub-theme A better care environment shows how the ward was perceived calmer, with less aggression and a higher level of equality between patients and staff. The sub-themes Improved relations and Person-centeredness put into practice further illustrate how staff prioritized time with patients, making sure they had information and were involved in care planning and other practical tasks, leading to more and better relations. Listening to patients and letting them make decisions when possible (Study III), further aligns with respecting autonomy, and adapting routines to allow flexibility aligns with decreasing staff control in favor of patient preferences. Participants in Study IV make some references to increased participation, and overall staff was regarded as being nice, but several accounts also suggest that many features remain discouraging. The care milieu was at times described as messy or scary, and having to share a room prevented the feelings of having a safe space for oneself. There were also several accounts of patients and next-of-kin being run over in decisions and denied opportunity to influence the care. These accounts reflect the perspectives of a small number of patients and nextof-kin and cannot be considered representative for the overall care experience, but they provide important input on sources of dissatisfaction present after the intervention.

Other aspects related to higher satisfaction include less severe psychotic symptoms (Vermeulen, Schirmbeck, van Tricht, de Haan, & investigators, 2018) and higher illness insight (Bø et al., 2016). There was no difference between our samples regarding severity of psychotic symptoms as measured by the RSS (Opler et al., 2007). Insight is assessed in one of RSS items and thus included in the overall assessment. Involuntary admission has repeatedly been related to lower satisfaction in both psychosis and general psychiatric inpatient settings (Bø et al., 2016; Strauss et al., 2013; Svensson & Hansson, 1994) along with experienced or perceived coercion (Katsakou et al., 2010; Strauss et al., 2013; Woodward, Berry, & Bucci, 2017). Proportions with involuntarily admittance did not differ in the two samples but there was no measure of coercive procedures (such as forced medication, restraint or seclusion) or perceived coercion.

SDM has been shown to be a predictor of patient satisfaction across medical (non-psychiatric), psychiatric, and psychosis settings (Adams & Drake, 2006) (Malm et al., 2003; Swanson, Bastani, Rubenstein, Meredith, & Ford, 2007), including psychosis inpatient care (Hamann et al., 2020). As described previously staff worked by several means to involve patients in decision-making but some patients still described being left out of decision-making. The increased satisfaction, if related to PCPC, but unchanged empowerment might be explained by a component in SDM that has also been related to satisfaction, namely the staff-patient relationship. Better therapeutic relationship has been suggested a predictor for satisfaction (Kim, Kim, & Boren, 2008; Middelboe et al., 2001) and shown to have a strong association with satisfaction (Miglietta et al., 2018; Sweeney et al., 2014). Building relations is a central feature of PCC and **Study III** shows how staff worked on relationships with the patients in several ways, from adopting an open approach with small talk in the corridor

and assisting with everyday tasks to improve routines for formal talks between contact persons (or psychiatrist) and the patients. Although not explicitly describing relationships, participants in **Study IV** were generally satisfied with staffs' approach in the sense that they were perceived as kind and nice.

#### Prolonged length of hospital stay

The prolonged LoS found post-intervention (Study II) was contrary to our hypothesis as well as findings of reduced duration in non-psychiatric inpatient settings (Ekman et al., 2012; Olsson, Karlsson, Berg, Kärrholm, & Hansson, 2014). The previous studies had a greater focus on discharge planning than our study which is one possible explanation for the different findings. The processes of recovery and discharge might also differ between medical wards and the psychosis wards, with longer and less structured processes in the latter. Previous studies show that LoS is multifactorial. Patients' symptom severity, duration of untreated psychosis (Ajnakina et al., 2020; Piccinelli, Bortolaso, Bolla, & Cioffi, 2016), involuntary admission status and social or cognitive functioning (Beck et al., 2016), or medical comorbidity (Douzenis et al., 2012; Rodrigues-Silva & Ribeiro, 2020) all contribute. These factors are mainly beyond the scope of our intervention and while we can be sure they impacted on the LoS we have no measure of how much they affected the difference between the samples. The findings of longer LoS could however in part be an effect of PCPC implementation. Participants in Study III described that PCC is about seeing the needs of each individual, and they expressed further that many unmet needs became apparent when they listened to the patients' own narratives. Acknowledging these unmet needs could result in prolonged LoS when staff would work with the patient to attend to those needs. Study IV touches on this aspect briefly as some statements reflected that the ward had too few beds and next-of-kin wished that patients had the opportunity to stay longer. Another way in which PCC might contribute to prolonged LoS is through SDM. SDM can result in delayed initiation of treatment or changes in psychotropic medication, both of which are associated with prolonged LoS (Nielsen, Milting, Brandt-Christensen, & Ebdrup, 2020). The qualitative data (Study III and IV) gives a mixed picture of how much SDM actually occurred.

#### Failure to reduce involuntary care

Our hypothesis regarding LoIS was also contradicted as LoIS was longer in the post-intervention sample (Study II). As ~80% of all consumed hospital days, across both samples, were involuntary, and involuntary admission is one factor prolonging LoS, these two outcomes, and the understanding of them, are highly overlapping. There are few studies reporting on LoIS or causes for prolonged LoIS (Iversen, Høyer, & Sexton, 2009). The one study reporting on LoIS in a psychosis setting found no difference in LoIS (or coercion) between hospitalized patients with psychosis who attended an ACT team or a regular outpatient service (Øhlenschlæger et al., 2008). From previous studies we know several factors that predict involuntary admission, which might also influence LoIS. Lack of insight, lack of treatment adherence, previous involuntary admission, no relationship or job, and being dependent on social welfare were identified in a recent review (Walker et al., 2019). The listed factors indicate complex health situations and unsuccessful health care partnerships which suggests that this group might warrant comprehensive efforts to gain from PCC as it might take time to establish partnerships and there are many health care needs to attend to. Again, we do not know how much these factors contribute to the differences between samples, but it is possible that the post-intervention sample included more patients with such complexity. There are no statements from Study III or IV that specifically address the duration of involuntary care.

The ratio of involuntary care/hospitalization episode was marginally, and not significantly, lower post-intervention. Even if more complex or more severely ill patients account for the prolonged care episodes, why did the ratio not decrease? One explanation might be that psychiatrists were already ending involuntary care as soon as possible, so that there was no room for improvement. Should that not be the case, and there in fact is room for earlier ending of involuntary care, which Iversen et al. (2009) suggest, then the intervention was unsuccessful in doing so. It could have failed impact on patients' ability to recover faster and be able to partner up. It could also have failed to reach psychiatrist views on when a patient should be released from the involuntary care (in favor for voluntary inpatient care) or their ability to form such trusting relationships that earlier ending was perceived as safe.

Psychiatrists were involved in the PCPC educational intervention, and some statements referred by psychiatrists in **Study III** suggest a high degree of person-centered thinking. However, there was evidence of limited uptake of PCC among psychiatrists in general in both **Study III** and **Study IV**. Skepticism towards PCC and unwillingness to engage by physicians have been reported in previous studies (Naldemirci et al., 2017). Turn-over among the psychiatrists might contribute to disengagement. Another reason could be the organization of psychiatrists as separate from the ward staff. This means that psychiatrists are not organized to attend weekly meetings regarding workplace issues, and thereby less involved in the everyday change projects in PCPC.

## Experiencing PCPC

The result of Study III suggested a good uptake of PCC into staffs' thinking and actions, with concrete examples of changes related to increased personcenteredness in everyday care on the wards, changes that could improve conditions for both patients and staff. Several participants described a more positive and fun work situation, along with smoother workflow, aligning with previous findings of improvements in staff satisfaction and perception of work quality in previous studies (Cook, Phillips, & Sadler, 2005; Ross, Tod, & Clarke, 2015). Participants in Study III related such changes to improved contact with patients. Being more engaged in patients was also related to the job becoming more fun, but for some it took an emotional toll, which has been shown also in non-psychiatric settings (Fridberg et al., 2021), leading to exhaustion and disappointment on behalf of the patient. Patients were described as being more grateful, hopeful and calm following the intervention, but also more engaged and demanded to receive proper information. Participants also related these outcomes to better contact between patients and staff, with staff making efforts and changing routines to for example, give patients opportunity to have questions answered, being listened to and deescalating potentially dangerous situations.

Overall **Study IV** gives several examples of truly person-centered and health promoting encounters, along with examples of situations very far from PCC. Participants describe staff having a nice approach, and there were examples of

patients and next-of-kin being recognized as individual human beings, being updated with information and invited to participate, and staff taking responsibility for decisions when needed. These examples align with the descriptions from staff in Study III and are all attributes of PCC (Håkansson Eklund et al., 2019). On the other hand, there were many examples of both patients and next-of-kin who experienced that they were not involved in decision-making, not being believed or trusted as sources of information, and being subjected to coercive or demeaning communication. Such experiences align instead with the repressive care PCC was meant to overcome (Staniszewska et al., 2019). Some participants' experiences of ward atmosphere (aggressive atmosphere, disturbing behavior of fellow patients) also nuanced the image of an improved care environment described by staff in Study III. Experiences of involuntary care were mainly negatively reflected with comparisons to punishment or imprisonment, indicating that patients and staff did not find a common understanding. Negative experiences involving medication included examples of patients or next-of-kin not having a say in decisions and not being believed regarding side-effects. These examples suggest that a patriarchal care structure remains and contribute to shed light on the epistemic injustice12 persons with psychosis might face (Carel & Kidd, 2014; Sanati & Kyratsous, 2015). I believe this is an important aspect that needs further clinical attention. If staff take interpretative precedence, unaware of such prejudice, PCC will be seriously hampered, reducing potential for SDM and improved empowerment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Epistemic injustice refers to the wrongdoing towards a person in his/her capacity as a knower as described by Miranda Fricker (2007). Fricker goes on to describe two types of epistemic injustice. Testimonial injustice occurs when a person's testimony is given less credibility due to prejudice. Hermeneutical injustice has to do with a collective interpretative void which put the person at disadvantage when trying to understand/explain a certain situation. In the psychosis setting patients might not be trusted due to prejudice concerning their capacity (testimonial injustice), and they may lack vocabulary to express experiences as patients suffering from psychosis have had few arenas to reflect and develop common language and understandings (hermeneutical injustice).
## Facilitators and barriers for PCC

The description of facilitators and barriers are of specific interest when trying to understand how PCC can be implemented in the psychosis inpatient setting. In **Study III** staff explicitly describe such features, and in both qualitative studies statements touched upon potential facilitators or barriers described in previous research.

The complexity of the concept PCC was perceived by staff as a barrier for implementation; it led to a heterogenic understanding of what PCC meant and how it could translate into practice. Similar findings are reported from a range of settings (Fridberg et al., 2021; Naldemirci et al., 2017). Fridberg et al. (2021) discuss how not understanding an innovation hampers the ability to implement it. The participatory approach with the creation of many change projects might further have added to heterogenic understanding as well as the different levels of engagement reported in Study III. Similar findings have been reported from participatory approaches to PCC previously (Fridberg et al., 2021; Vikström et al., 2015). Staff not wanting to adopt a more personcentered way hampered the implementation, and psychiatrists not cooperating or engaging was considered especially problematic. Psychiatrists were identified as having the most power by participants in Study IV, as in previous studies of psychosis care environments (Stock, 2021). Having a powerful position and not engaging to reform the care practice could seriously hamper the success of the implementation. The power structure built around physicians has been identified as difficult to change in diverse medical settings (Moore et al., 2017; Naldemirci et al., 2017), and a special focus on psychiatrists might be warranted in future interventions.

Constraints in time and resources are commonly reported barriers for PCC implementation (Fridberg et al., 2021; Moore et al., 2017), and **Study III** described how everyday practice took precedence over change work, affected also by staff turnover. Additional resources might be needed during an implementation phase to assist staff.

The physical environment as described in **Study IV** is to be considered a barrier as it failed to assure personal privacy, feelings of safety, and spaces for private conversations or visits. Lack of private spaces have been put forward as a barrier for building relationships in medical settings (Moore et al., 2017), and a safe environment is considered important for recovery (Muir-Cochrane, Oster, Grotto, Gerace, & Jones, 2013; Schroder, Wilde Larsson, & Ahlstrom, 2007). Staff made no mention of the physical environment in **Study III**, and the projects initiated in connection with the PCC intervention was not focused on improving the physical aspects of the environment. A critical revision focusing on the physical environment involving patients and next-of-kin might be an important prerequisite for such change.

The starting point for PCC is the narrative and **Study III** participants pinpointed the conversation with patients as the outset. Disturbances in communication is a previously recognized barrier (Fridberg et al., 2021), including the use of interpreters. Results in **Study III** suggested that good communication was complicated when interpreters were needed. Having staff knowledgeable in different languages is thus a potential facilitator to manage good communication. While staff (**Study III**) did not experience that psychosis per se was a hinder for PCC, statements in **Study IV** elucidate that when having acute psychosis, it can be difficult to receive information, and having a dialogue is complicated. This is important to acknowledge as an initial barrier for establishing a partnership. Staff at the inpatient wards are experienced regarding these difficulties and reflections in **Study III** suggested that (some) staff worked to overcome such initial difficulties by continuously trying to involve patients throughout the care episode.

Some of the formal supportive features in PCPC were explicitly described as facilitators by staff, aligning with suggestions from previous implementations (Britten et al., 2020). The appraisal of the PCPC resource person, the steering group, and the care plan monitoring aligns with previous findings suggesting a need to provide practical support, continuous supervision and feedback to facilitate sustainable PCC (Chenoweth et al., 2015; Kirkley et al., 2011).

During the implementation phase of PCPC, the initial work on various change projects shifted to mainly focus on establishing a routine for co-creating a care plan with patients. This united focus on a practical feature, i.e. the care plan, was considered a facilitator in **Study III**. This highlights the trade-off to be made between a more structured routine-based implementation, with risks of losing the underpinning philosophy of PCC (O'Donovan, 2007), and an emphasis on the PCC principles as guidance for a practice, with risks of being ambiguous and difficult to translate into unified practice.

The contact person could be considered a facilitator, based on the statements in Study IV; both patients and next-of-kin related that having a specified staff member they could turn to helped them to feel comfortable. The most important thing for the contact person was according to participants not to have all the answers but to be someone who cares. From a staff perspective the contact person is the primary initiator of the partnership. PCPC ward projects involved routines to ensure conditions for listening to the patient's narrative upon admittance and to stimulate conversations between the contact person and the patient throughout the care episode. The contact person thus has an important role with potential of defining the partnership. Previous studies on person-centered care in community mental health settings suggest that a strong therapeutical relationship is a prerequisite for a person-centered care planning, and that such a relationship needs calibrating, continuity and involve a real connection (Hamovitch, Choy-Brown, & Stanhope, 2018). Further, without these attributes of the relationship participants might not bother to engage. The contact person could thus be a gatekeeper for patients' engagement in the PCC process. Practicing person-centered care planning was also found to facilitate the therapeutical relationship, suggesting that the practical and relational aspects of PCC are intertwined (Hamovitch et al., 2018). Some hindrances for building a relation with the contact person were described in Study IV. One pertained to scheduling; contact persons were not always available when needed. There were also relational aspects; the appointed staff member might not match the patient (personal chemistry), or might not be actively pursuing the contact person tasks resulting in patients not knowing who their appointed contact person was. Supporting staff in their roles as contact persons might constitute an essential element in the development towards a more systematic delivery of PCC.

This thesis contributes to the understanding of how PCC can be incorporated in inpatient psychosis care and what outcomes it might achieve by showing that a participatory educational intervention for staff was overall well received by staff (**Study III**), potentially improved patients' satisfaction with care, but was not related to an increased level of patient empowerment (**Study I**). It might have contributed to prolonged hospitalization episodes but could not be related to reduced proportion of involuntary care days (**Study II**). Patient and next-of-kin narratives suggested emerging person-centeredness, but the biomedical orientation and hierarchal organization of care remained evident (**Study IV**).

The discussion of these findings suggests that while PCPC was successful in enhancing person-centered thinking and actions in staff, not all were committed to the project and organizational or practical features obstructed implementation. The findings in **Study I, II** and **IV** might be explained by such insufficient implementation.

Facilitators and barriers align with reports from other settings, suggesting that the psychosis inpatient setting faces challenges similar to those of other medical specialties, including difficult-to-change hierarchies and implementation-related factors. The epistemic injustice potentially affecting patients with psychosis is however an important area for clinicians to acknowledge along with the communicative difficulties in acute psychosis. PCC needs to be further explored within psychosis inpatient settings, especially focusing on how staffs' understanding, attitudes and practical work can be more systematically embedded into the care. This should involve all mental health professionals. Our findings point to specific hinders and organizational barriers which could be addressed in future studies. A specific feature for the acute psychosis care that needs further studying is the tension between patients' need to be acknowledged as worthy partners and staff members' struggle to see patients capability also during psychotic states.

Length of involuntary care in the context of PCC interventions is largely unexplored. Its role in perceived coercion, impact on therapeutic relations and the building of partnerships needs to be addressed along with its impact on long-term outcomes.

Despite the discussed difficulties in adopting robust research methods in complex interventions in real-life settings, such research is much needed to provide evidence of efficacy and effectiveness to guide future implementation of PCC. Patient involvement is further warranted to ensure that interventions and measures are directed towards relevant endpoints. Jag är lyckligt lottad som genom livet omgetts av fantastiska människor. Familj, släkt, vänner och kollegor. Jag vill tacka er alla som på olika sätt bidragit till hur jag kunnat ta mig fram genom livet. Några av er har mer att göra med doktorandtiden och att det blev en avhandling till slut. Er vill jag tacka speciellt.

**Margda Waern**, min huvudhandledare, du såg tidigt potential i mig som framtida forskare och jag tror du sådde små frön från början för att puffa mig åt detta håll. Jag måste få säga att du är fantastisk! Din syn på dina medmänniskor och inställning till arbetet vi gör är så positiv och uppmuntrande, och din professionella blick så skärpt. Det har verkligen varit en ynnest att få ha dig till handledare och jag hoppas vi kommer kunna fortsätta vårt fina samarbete även efter detta projekt är slut. 1000 tack, Margda!

Anneli Goulding, min bihandledare tillika projektkoordinator för PCPC, vad hade jag gjort utan dig? Vi kände inte varandra innan PCPC men du har blivit min närmsta kollega de senaste åren. Du har alltid funnits till hands för både arbetsrelaterade råd och debriefing avseende stormarna som doktorerande, småbarnsliv och livet som människa i stort rör upp. Du tillför dessutom en underbart krass syn på verkligenheten till mitt lite mer naiva sinnelag.. Tack för allt detta, Anneli! Jag är säker på att vi kommer fortsätta jobba fint ihop; ses på Psykoskliniken!

Lilas Ali, också min bihandledare, jag följer liksom i dina fotspår! Psykiatrisjuksköterska, psykoskliniken, forskning. Utöver din expertis inom person-centrering och kvalitativ forskning har det varit väldigt värdefullt att kunna ta del av dina råd kring stort och smått i det akademiska livet. Tack för att du alltid tagit dig an mina tusen frågor med ett leende (i alla fall när jag sett)! Stefan Wiktorsson, medförfattare och en fixare av rang; tack för allt fint samarbete kring Studie IV, men också för att du så självklart hjälpt till med diverse praktiska och administrativa hinder som dykt upp längs vägen. Du är en klippa verkligen! Och tack till dig, **Petter Olsson**, för intervju-insatserna med närstående!

Ett stort tack till medförfattare och register-support **Andreas Gremyr** för ovärderlig hjälp med registerdata men också för ditt lugna, reflekterande sätt som gjutit olja på de vågor som här i avhandlingen kallas Studie II. Jag hoppas vi får chans att arbeta tillsamman igen! Och tack till dig, **Torbjörn Jakobsson**, som plockat fram register-data och genom åtskilliga mail hjälpt mig förstå hur jag ska förstå dem!

Sara Alsén och Matilda Cederberg, doktorandkollegor och vänner, det är mycket möjligt att det inte blivit någon färdig avhandling utan er. Som ensam doktorand i min forskargrupp blev ni en livlina. Zoom-fikor, skrivar-retreat och Hyggås-turer där förtvivlan och förvirring kunnat övergå i konstruktivitet och hopp har utan att överdriva varit ovärderliga. Ni är båda så otroligt kloka och fina vänner, tack för att jag fick bli en del av ert sammanhang (och för allt bubbel)!

**Pia Rydell**, chef för Psykiatri Psykos, tack både för ditt engagemang för att leverera bra vård till de psykos-drabbade personerna i Göteborg, och för initiativet till PCPC. Därtill tack för att du gjorde det möjligt för mig att vara ledig från det kliniska arbetet för att kunna genomföra doktorandstudierna!

Mina fantastiska **kollegor på Nå Ut**: jag kan inte överdriva hur mycket ni betytt för mig. Att arbeta med er kloka, ambitiösa, och jävligt roliga Nå-ut'are har varit en ynnest. Ni sporrade mig att utvecklas, både som professionell och som människa. Jag har inte gett upp tanken på att vi ska återförenas som ett nytt superteam på något sätt... Tack särskilt till **Susan Landqvist-Stockman** som alltid uppmuntrat mig och praktiskt möjliggjort min forskarambition, och för att du är en så rosa pudel! Tack **Cecilia Brain** som tog mig med på COAST-resan (med stationer som "Forsknings-skrubben", Buenos Aires, MEMS och New York), och bästa medresenären **Birgitta Sameby** för all support i forskningssjuksköterskans värld. **Patrick Quinlan** och **Erik Joas**, som nästan lyckats göra statistik begripligt och i övrigt är fantastiska personer -hoppas vi får samarbeta igen!

Jag vill också passa på att tacka alla underbara kollegor jag jobbade med på **PVÖ**, dit jag kom som ganska ny i gemet. Ni visade hur genuint intresse för varje patients bästa kan genomsyra vården. Särskilt **Leif Ericson**, som verkligen såg människan i dem han mötte, inklusive mig. Jag önskar så att du var här nu!

Min familj; mamma Ann-Sofie och pappa Leif, som alltid ställer upp och alltid trott på mig, tack för allt ni gör och är. Efter 40+ år är ni fortfarande min trygga hamn! Mina älskade döttrar Betty och Daisy; ni har gett livet en ny dimension och gjort det lätt att koppla bort jobbet mellan passen. Sluta aldrig ta min tid! Och Oskar, min man och kärlek, som stått ut med kvällsjobb, uteblivna dater, och en allmänt övertrött fru; tack för allt stöd och uppmuntran, förståelse och bara lite förebråelser under hela denna tid. Nu finns tid för mera vi!

Alla goda vänner som tillfört glada hejar-rop, energi-givande distraktion, naturvin, mänskliga pyramider och annat livsviktigt, TACK! Speciellt tack till dig Eva Furunger, som både förvandlat en omslagsidé till verklighet och torkat tårar!

Och sist, men snarare mest än minst; **alla deltagarna i PCPC**. **Patienter och närstående** som tagit av sin kraft och tid för att engagera sig för att förbättra vårdsituationen, och delat med sig av sina berättelser och åsikter i delstudie I och IV. Helt ovärderligt! Ett stort, stort tack! **All personal** på Psykiatri Psykos slutenvård, som trots den utmanande miljön, vakanser och alla 100 saker som ska göras, engagerat sig för att finna nya vägar att möta patienterna och göra vårdprocessen ännu bättre. Tack för ert imponerande engagemang och det fina jobb ni gör! Ett speciellt tack till alla er som bidragit med era berättelser om PCPC till delstudie III. Utan alla er blev det inget!

- Adams-Hutcheson, G., & Longhurst, R. (2017). 'At least in person there would have been a cup of tea': interviewing via Skype. Area (London 1969), 49(2), 148-155. doi:10.1111/area.12306
- Adams, J. R., & Drake, R. E. (2006). Shared decision-making and evidence-based practice. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 42(1), 87-105. doi:10.1007/s10597-005-9005-8
- Ahlfors, U. G., Lewander, T., Lindström, E., Malt, U. F., Lublin, H., & Malm, U. (2000). Assessment of patient satisfaction with psychiatric care. Development and clinical evaluation of a brief consumer satisfaction rating scale (UKU-ConSat). *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 55, 71-90.
- Ajnakina, O., Stubbs, B., Francis, E., Gaughran, F., David, A. S., Murray, R. M., & Lally, J. (2020). Hospitalisation and length of hospital stay following firstepisode psychosis: Systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Psychological Medicine*, 50(6), 991-1001. doi:10.1017/S0033291719000904
- Allerby, K., Goulding, A., Ali, L., & Waern, M. (2022). Increasing personcenteredness in psychosis inpatient care: staff experiences from the Person-Centered Psychosis Care (PCPC) project. BMC Health Services Research, 22(1), 1-12.
- Allerby, K., Sameby, B., Brain, C., Joas, E., Quinlan, P., Sjöström, N., ... Waern, M. (2015). Stigma and burden among relatives of persons with schizophrenia: results from the Swedish COAST study. *Psychiatric Services*, 66(10), 1020-1026.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5 (5. ed.): Arlington, Va. American Psychiatric Association.
- Andreasson, E., & Skärsäter, I. (2012). Patients treated for psychosis and their perceptions of care in compulsory treatment: basis for an action plan. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 19(1), 15-22.
- Ballard, C., Corbett, A., Orrell, M., Williams, G., Moniz-Cook, E., Romeo, R., ... Fossey, J. (2018). Impact of person-centred care training and personcentred activities on quality of life, agitation, and antipsychotic use in people with dementia living in nursing homes: A cluster-randomised

controlled trial. *PLoS Medicine*, 15(2), e1002500. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1002500

- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological review*, 84(2), 191-215. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action : a social cognitive theory. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall.
- Barton, S. A., Johnson, M. R., & Price, L. V. (2009). Achieving restraint-free on an inpatient behavioral health unit. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services*, 47(1), 34-40.
- Beck, A., Harris, V., Newman, L., Evans, L. J., Lewis, H., & Pegler, R. (2016). Statistical approaches for identifying heavy users of inpatient mental health services. *Journal of Mental Health (Abingdon, England), 25*(5), 455-460. doi:10.1080/09638237.2016.1207221
- Beitinger, R., Kissling, W., & Hamann, J. (2014). Trends and perspectives of shared decision-making in schizophrenia and related disorders. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 27(3), 222-229.
- Berger, J. (2006). Incorporation of the Tidal Model into the interdisciplinary plan of care–A program quality improvement project. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 13(4), 464-467.
- Björk, J. (2011). Praktisk statistik för medicin och hälsa (1. uppl. ed.): Stockholm : Liber.
- Boevink, W., Kroon, H., Delespaul, P., & Van Os, J. (2016). Empowerment according to persons with severe mental illness: development of the Netherlands empowerment list and its psychometric properties. Open Journal of Psychiatry, 7(1), 18-30.
- Brain, C., Sameby, B., Allerby, K., Quinlan, P., Joas, E., Lindström, E., . . . Waern, M. (2014). Stigma, discrimination and medication adherence in schizophrenia: results from the Swedish COAST study. *Psychiatry Research*, 220(3), 811-817.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101.
- Britten, N., Ekman, I., Naldemirci, Ö., Javinger, M., Hedman, H., & Wolf, A. (2020). Learning from Gothenburg model of person centred healthcare. *BMJ*, 2020, Vol. 370, 370.
- Brown, J., & Isaacs, D. (2005). The world café: Shaping our futures through conversations that matter. Oakland, USA: Berrett-Koehler.
- Brownie, S., & Nancarrow, S. (2013). Effects of person-centered care on residents and staff in aged-care facilities: a systematic review. *Clinical Interventions in Aging*, 8, 1-10. doi:10.2147/CIA.S38589

- Bø, B., Ottesen, Ø. H., Gjestad, R., Jørgensen, H. A., Kroken, R. A., Løberg, E.-M., & Johnsen, E. (2016). Patient satisfaction after acute admission for psychosis. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 70(5), 321-328.
- Carel, H., & Kidd, I. (2014). Epistemic injustice in healthcare: a philosophial analysis. *Medicine, Health Care and Philosophy, 17*(4), 529-540. doi:10.1007/s11019-014-9560-2
- Cattaneo, L. B., & Chapman, A. R. (2010). The process of empowerment: a model for use in research and practice. *American Psychologist*, 65(7), 646-659. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0018854</u>
- Chenoweth, L., Forbes, I., Fleming, R., King, M. T., Stein-Parbury, J., Luscombe, G., . . . Brodaty, H. (2014). PerCEN: A cluster randomized controlled trial of person-centered residential care and environment for people with dementia. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 26(7), 1147-1160. doi:10.1017/S1041610214000398
- Chenoweth, L., Jeon, Y. H., Stein-Parbury, J., Forbes, I., Fleming, R., Cook, J., . . . Tinslay, L. (2015). PerCEN trial participant perspectives on the implementation and outcomes of person-centered dementia care and environments. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 27(12), 2045-2057. doi:10.1017/S1041610215001350
- Cook, N., Phillips, B., & Sadler, D. (2005). The tidal model as experienced by patients and nurses in a regional forensic unit. *Journal of psychiatric and mental health nursing*, 12(5), 536-540. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2850.2005.00872.x
- Cougnard, A., Parrot, M., Grolleau, S., Kalmi, E., Desage, A., Misdrahi, D., . . . Verdoux, H. (2006). Pattern of health service utilization and predictors of readmission after a first admission for psychosis: a 2-year follow-up study. *Acta psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 113(4), 340-349. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.2005.00694.x
- Craig, P., Dieppe, P., Macintyre, S., Michie, S., Nazareth, I., & Petticrew, M. (2013). Developing and evaluating complex interventions: The new Medical Research Council guidance. *International Journal Of Nursing Studies*, 50(5), 587-592. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.09.010
- Dahlberg, K. (2008). Reflective lifeworld research (2. ed.): Lund : Studentlitteratur.
- Dahlqvist Jönsson, P., Schön, U. K., Rosenberg, D., Sandlund, M., & Svedberg, P. (2015). Service users' experiences of participation in decision making in mental health services. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 22(9), 688-697. doi:10.1111/jpm.12246
- Davidson, L. (2016). The Recovery Movement: Implications For Mental Health Care And Enabling People To Participate Fully In Life. *Health Aff* (Millwood), 35(6), 1091-1097. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0153

- Davidson, L., Rowe, M., Tondora, J., O'Connell, M., & Lawless, M. (2008). A practical guide to recovery-oriented practice: Tools for transforming mental health care: Oxford University Press.
- Davidson, L., Tondora, J., Pavlo, A., & Stanhope, V. (2017). Shared decision making within the context of recovery-oriented care. *Mental Health Review Journal*, 22(3), 179-190. doi:10.1108/MHRJ-01-2017-0007
- De Silva, D. (2014). Helping measure person-centred care: a review of evidence about commonly used approaches and tools used to help measure person-centred care: Health Foundation.
- Deakin, H., & Wakefield, K. (2014). Skype interviewing: reflections of two PhD researchers. *Qualitative* Research, 14(5), 603-616. doi:10.1177/1468794113488126
- Dodgson, J. E. (2019). Reflexivity in Qualitative Research. Journal of Human Lactation, 35(2), 220-222. doi:10.1177/0890334419830990
- Doran, D., Paterson, J., Clark, C., Srivastava, R., Goering, P. N., Kushniruk, A. W., . . . Carryer, J. (2010). A pilot study of an electronic interprofessional evidence-based care planning tool for clients with mental health problems and addictions. *Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing*, 7(3), 174-184.
- Douzenis, A., Seretis, D., Nika, S., Nikolaidou, P., Papadopoulou, A., Rizos, E. N., . . . Lykouras, L. (2012). Factors affecting hospital stay in psychiatric patients: The role of active comorbidity. *BMC Health Services Research*, 12(1), 166-166. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-12-166
- Duggins, R., & Shaw, I. (2006). Examining the concept of patient satisfaction in patients with a diagnosis of schizophrenia: a qualitative study. *Psychiatric Bulletin*, 30(4), 142-145. doi:10.1192/pb.30.4.142
- Duncan, E., Best, C., & Hagen, S. (2008). Shared decision making interventions for people with mental health conditions. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 1.*
- Edvardsson, D., Fetherstonhaugh, D., McAuliffe, L., Nay, R., & Chenco, C. (2011). Job satisfaction amongst aged care staff: exploring the influence of person-centered care provision. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 23(8), 1205-1212. doi:10.1017/S1041610211000159
- Edvardsson, D., Koch, S., & Nay, R. (2010). Psychometric evaluation of the English language Person-centred Climate Questionnaire - staff version. *Journal of Nursing Management, 18*(1), 54-60. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2834.2009.01038.x
- Edvardsson, D., Sandman, P. O., & Rasmussen, B. (2008). Swedish language Person-centred Climate Questionnaire–patient version: construction and psychometric evaluation. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 63(3), 302-309.

- Edvardsson, D., Sjögren, K., Lindkvist, M., Taylor, M., Edvardsson, K., & Sandman, P. (2015). Person-centred climate questionnaire (PCQ-S): establishing reliability and cut-off scores in residential aged care. *Journal* of Nursing Management, 23(3), 315-323.
- Ekman, I. (2022). Practising the ethics of person-centred care balancing ethical conviction and moral obligations. *Nursing Philosophy*, e12382-e12382. doi:10.1111/nup.12382
- Ekman, I., Norberg, A., Kristensson Uggla, B., Swedberg, K., Lindström Kjellberg, I., Hök, J., & Kindblom, K. (2014). Personcentrering i hälsooch sjukvård: från filosofi till praktik. *Stockholm: Liber*.
- Ekman, I., Swedberg, K., Taft, C., Lindseth, A., Norberg, A., Brink, E., . . . Sunnerhagen, K. S. (2011). Person-centered care-Ready for prime time. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 10(4), 248-251. doi:10.1016/j.ejcnurse.2011.06.008
- Ekman, I., Wolf, A., Olsson, L.-E., Taft, C., Dudas, K., Schaufelberger, M., & Swedberg, K. (2012). Effects of person-centred care in patients with chronic heart failure: The PCC-HF study. *European Heart Journal*, 33(9), 1112-1119. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehr306
- Endicott, J., Spitzer, R. L., Fleiss, J. L., & Cohen, J. (1976). The global assessment scale. A procedure for measuring overall severity of psychiatric disturbance. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 33(6), 766-771.
- Entwistle, V. A., & Watt, I. S. (2013). Treating patients as persons: a capabilities approach to support delivery of person-centered care. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 13(8), 29-39.
- EuroQol Group. (1990). EuroQol A new facility for the measurement of healthrelated quality of life. *Health Policy*, *16*(3), 199-208.
- Falter, M., Arenas, A., Maples, G., Smith, C., Lamb, L., Anderson, M., . . . Wafa, N. (2022). Making Room for Zoom in Focus Group Methods: Opportunities and Challenges for Novice Researchers (During and Beyond COVID-19). Forum, qualitative social research, 23(1). doi:10.17169/fqs-23.1.3768
- Fenton, K., Larkin, M., Boden, Z., Thompson, J., Hickman, G., & Newton, E. (2014). The experiential impact of hospitalisation in early psychosis: Service-user accounts of inpatient environments. *Health & Place*, 30, 234-241. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2014.09.013
- Fricker, M. (2007). *Epistemic Injustice: Power and the Ethics of Knowing*. Oxford: Oxford: Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Fridberg, H., Wallin, L., & Tistad, M. (2021). The innovation characteristics of person-centred care as perceived by healthcare professionals: an interview study employing a deductive-inductive content analysis guided

by the consolidated framework for implementation research. *BMC Health* Services Research, 21(1), 904-904. doi:10.1186/s12913-021-06942-y

- Gabrielsson, S., Sävenstedt, S., & Zingmark, K. (2015). Person-centred care: Clarifying the concept in the context of inpatient psychiatry. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 29(3), 555-562.
- Golay, P., Morandi, S., Conus, P., & Bonsack, C. (2019). Identifying patterns in psychiatric hospital stays with statistical methods: towards a typology of post-deinstitutionalization hospitalization trajectories. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 54(11), 1411-1417. doi:10.1007/s00127-019-01717-7
- Goulding, A., Allerby, K., Ali, L., Gremyr, A., & Waern, M. (2018). Study protocol design and evaluation of a hospital-based multi-professional educational intervention: Person-Centred Psychosis Care (PCPC). BMC Psychiatry, 18(1), 269. doi:10.1186/s12888-018-1852-2
- Graneheim, U., & Lundman, B. (2004). Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness. *Nurse Education Today*, 24(2), 105-112. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2003.10.001
- Gray, L., Wong-Wylie, G., Rempel, G., & Cook, K. (2020). Expanding qualitative research interviewing strategies: Zoom video communications. *Qualitative Report*, 25(5), 1292-1301.
- Greenspan, S. B., Gordon, K. L., Whitcomb, S. A., & Lauterbach, A. A. (2021). Use of video conferencing to facilitate focus groups for qualitative data collection. *American Journal of Qualitative Research*, 5(1), 85-93.
- Guest, G., Namey, E., Taylor, J., Eley, N., & McKenna, K. (2017). Comparing focus groups and individual interviews: findings from a randomized study. *International journal of social research methodology*, 20(6), 693-708. doi:10.1080/13645579.2017.1281601
- Halliday, M., Mill, D., Johnson, J., & Lee, K. (2021). Let's talk virtual! Online focus group facilitation for the modern researcher. *Research in social and administrative pharmacy*, 17(12), 2145-2150. doi:10.1016/j.sapharm.2021.02.003
- Hamann, J., Cohen, R., Leucht, S., Busch, R., & Kissling, W. (2005). Do patients with schizophrenia wish to be involved in decisions about their medical treatment? *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 162(12), 2382-2384. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.162.12.2382
- Hamann, J., Holzhüter, F., Blakaj, S., Becher, S., Haller, B., Landgrebe, M., . . . Heres, S. (2020). Implementing shared decision-making on acute psychiatric wards: a cluster-randomized trial with inpatients suffering from schizophrenia (SDM-PLUS). *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences, 29*, e137. doi:10.1017/S2045796020000505

- Hamovitch, E. K., Choy-Brown, M., & Stanhope, V. (2018). Person-Centered Care and the Therapeutic Alliance. *Community mental health journal*, 54(7), 951-958. doi:10.1007/s10597-018-0295-z
- Han, X., Jiang, F., Needleman, J., Guo, M., Chen, Y., Zhou, H., . . . Tang, Y. (2021). A sequence analysis of hospitalization patterns and service utilization in patients with major psychiatric disorders in China. *BMC psychiatry*, 21(1), 245-245. doi:10.1186/s12888-021-03251-w
- Hansson, L., & Björkman, T. (2005). Empowerment in people with a mental illness: reliability and validity of the Swedish version of an empowerment scale. *Scandinavian journal of caring sciences, 19*(1), 32-38. doi:10.1111/j.1471-6712.2004.00310.x
- Håkansson Eklund, J., Holmström, I., Kumlin, T., Kaminsky, E., Skoglund, K., Höglander, J., . . . Summer Meranius, M. (2019). "Same same or different?" A review of reviews of person-centered and patient-centered care. *Patient education and counseling*, 102(1), 3-11. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2018.08.029
- Ivarsson, B., & Malm, U. (2007). Self-reported consumer satisfaction in mental health services: Validation of a self-rating version of the UKU-Consumer Satisfaction Rating Scale. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 61(3), 194-200.
- Iversen, K. I., Høyer, G., & Sexton, H. C. (2009). Rates for civil commitment to psychiatric hospitals in Norway. Are registry data accurate? *Nordic Journal* of *Psychiatry*, 63(4), 301-307.
- Jaeger, S., Pfiffner, C., Weiser, P., Längle, G., Croissant, D., Schepp, W., . . . Steinert, T. (2013). Long-term effects of involuntary hospitalization on medication adherence, treatment engagement and perception of coercion. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 48(11), 1787-1796. doi:10.1007/s00127-013-0687-x
- Joosten, E. A., DeFuentes-Merillas, L., de Weert, G. H., Sensky, T., van der Staak, C. P., & de Jong, C. A. (2008). Systematic review of the effects of shared decision-making on patient satisfaction, treatment adherence and health status. *Psychother Psychosom*, 77(4), 219-226. doi:10.1159/000126073
- Kadri, N., Manoudi, F., Berrada, S., & Moussaoui, D. (2004). Stigma impact on Moroccan families of patients with schizophrenia. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 49(9), 625-629.
- Kane, R. L., Maciejewski, M., & Finch, M. (1997). The relationship of patient satisfaction with care and clinical outcomes. *Med Care*, 35(7), 714-730.
- Katsakou, C., Bowers, L., Amos, T., Morriss, R., Rose, D., Wykes, T., & Priebe, S. (2010). Coercion and treatment satisfaction among involuntary patients. *Psychiatr Serv, 61*(3), 286-292. doi:10.1176/ps.2010.61.3.286
- Katsakou, C., Rose, D., Amos, T., Bowers, L., McCabe, R., Oliver, D., . . . Priebe, S. (2012). Psychiatric patients' views on why their involuntary

hospitalisation was right or wrong: a qualitative study. *Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology*, 47(7), 1169-1179.

- Kay, S. R., Fiszbein, A., & Opler, L. A. (1987). The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia bulletin*, 13(2), 261-276.
- Kennedy, J. L., Altar, C. A., Taylor, D. L., Degtiar, I., & Hornberger, J. C. (2014). The social and economic burden of treatment-resistant schizophrenia: a systematic literature review. *International clinical psychopharmacology*, 29(2), 63-76. doi:10.1097/YIC.0b013e32836508e6
- Kim, S. C., Kim, S., & Boren, D. (2008). The Quality of Therapeutic Alliance between Patient and Provider Predicts General Satisfaction. *Military medicine*, 173(1), 85-90.
- Kirkley, C., Bamford, C., Poole, M., Arksey, H., Hughes, J., & Bond, J. (2011). The impact of organisational culture on the delivery of person-centred care in services providing respite care and short breaks for people with dementia. *Health Soc Care Community*, 19(4), 438-448. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2524.2011.00998.x
- Kitzinger, J. (2007). Focus Groups. In *Qualitative Research in Health Care: Third Edition* (pp. 21-31).
- Klingberg, G., & Hallberg, U. (2021). *Kvalitativa metoder helt enkelt!* (Upplaga 1 ed.): Lund : Studentlitteratur.
- Kotter, J. P. (2012). Leading change: Harvard business press.
- Kristensson Uggla, B. (2020). Personfilosofi filosofiska utgångspunkter för personcentrering inom hälso- och sjukvård. . In I. Ekman (Ed.), *Personcentrering inom hälso- och sjukvård: från filosofi till praktik* (pp. 58-103). Stockholm: Liber AB.
- Krueger, R. A. (2014). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research: Sage publications.
- Krupchanka, D., Khalifeh, H., Abdulmalik, J., Ardila-Gómez, S., Armiya'u, A. Y. u., Banjac, V., . . . Sartorius, N. (2017). Satisfaction with psychiatric inpatient care as rated by patients at discharge from hospitals in 11 countries. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 52(8), 989-1003. doi:10.1007/s00127-017-1366-0
- Kvale, S. (2014). *Den kvalitativa forskningsintervjun* (Tredje [reviderade] upplagan ed.): Lund : Studentlitteratur.
- König, H.-H., Roick, C., & Angermeyer, M. C. (2006). Validity of the EQ-5D in assessing and valuing health status in patients with schizophrenic, schizotypal or delusional disorders. *European psychiatry*, 22(3), 177-187. doi:10.1016/j.eurpsy.2006.08.004
- Lambert, M., Karow, A., Leucht, S., Schimmelmann, B. G., & Naber, D. (2010). Remission in schizophrenia: validity, frequency, predictors, and patients'

perspective 5 years later. *Dialogues in clinical neuroscience, 12*(3), 393-407. doi:10.31887/DCNS.2010.12.3/mlambert

- Leamy, M., Bird, V., Boutillier, C. L., Williams, J., & Slade, M. (2011). Conceptual framework for personal recovery in mental health: systematic review and narrative synthesis. *British journal of psychiatry*, 199(6), 445-452. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.110.083733
- Leendertse, J. C. P., Wierdsma, A. I., van den Berg, D., Ruissen, A. M., Slade, M., Castelein, S., & Mulder, C. L. (2021). Personal Recovery in People With a Psychotic Disorder: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Associated Factors. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, 12, 622628-622628. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2021.622628
- Lehuluante, A., Nilsson, A., & Edvardsson, D. (2012). The influence of a personcentred psychosocial unit climate on satisfaction with care and work. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 20(3), 319-325.
- Lilja, L., & Hellzén, O. (2008). Former patients' experience of psychiatric care: A qualitative investigation. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 17(4), 279-286. doi:10.1111/j.1447-0349.2008.00544.x
- Lindström, I., & Hök, J. (2020). Personcentrerat lärande en samskapande och kunskapande process. In I. Ekman (Ed.), Personcentrering inom hälso- och sjukvård. Från filosofi till praktik (2 ed., pp. 340-361): Liber Stockholm.
- Livingston, G., Kelly, L., Lewis-Holmes, E., Baio, G., Morris, S., Patel, N., . . . Cooper, C. (2014). Non-pharmacological interventions for agitation in dementia: Systematic review of randomised controlled trials. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 205(6), 436-442. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.113.141119
- Malm, U., Ivarsson, B., Allebeck, P., & Falloon, I. R. (2003). Integrated care in schizophrenia: A 2-year randomized controlled study of two communitybased treatment programs. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 107(6), 415-423.
- Malm, U., Ivarsson, B. A., & Allebeck, P. (2014). Durability of the efficacy of integrated care in schizophrenia: a five-year randomized controlled study. *Psychiatric Services*, 65(8), 1054-1057. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201300164
- Malterud, K. (2001). Qualitative research: standards, challenges, and guidelines. The Lancet (British edition), 358(9280), 483-488. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(01)05627-6
- Middelboe, T., Schjodt, T., Byrsting, K., & Gjerris, A. (2001). Ward atmosphere in acute psychiatric in-patient care: Patients' perceptions, ideals and satisfaction. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 103(3), 212-219.
- Miglietta, E., Belessiotis-Richards, C., Ruggeri, M., & Priebe, S. (2018). Scales for assessing patient satisfaction with mental health care: A systematic review. *Journal of psychiatric research*, 100, 33-46.

- Mohr, P., Galderisi, S., Boyer, P., Wasserman, D., Arteel, P., Ieven, A., ... Winkler, P. (2018). Value of schizophrenia treatment I: The patient journey. *European Psychiatry*, 53, 107-115.
- Molin, J., Graneheim, U. H., Ringnér, A., & Lindgren, B.-M. (2016). From ideals to resignation - interprofessional teams perspectives on everyday life processes in psychiatric inpatient care. *Journal of psychiatric and mental health nursing*, 23(9-10), 595. doi:10.1111/jpm.12349
- Moore, L., Britten, N., Lydahl, D., Naldemirci, Ö., Elam, M., & Wolf, A. (2017). Barriers and facilitators to the implementation of person-centred care in different healthcare contexts. *Scandinavian journal of caring sciences*, 31(4), 662-673.
- Morgan, S., & Yoder, L. H. (2012). A concept analysis of person-centered care. Journal of Holistic Nursing, 30(1), 6-15. doi:10.1177/0898010111412189
- Mueser, K. T., Lu, W., Rosenberg, S. D., & Wolfe, R. (2009). The trauma of psychosis: Posttraumatic stress disorder and recent onset psychosis. *Schizophrenia research*, 116(2), 217-227. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2009.10.025
- Muir-Cochrane, E., Oster, C., Grotto, J., Gerace, A., & Jones, J. (2013). The inpatient psychiatric unit as both a safe and unsafe place: Implications for absconding. *International journal of mental health nursing*, 22(4), 304-312. doi:10.1111/j.1447-0349.2012.00873.x
- Murphy, R., McGuinness, D., Bainbridge, E., Brosnan, L., Felzmann, H., Keys, M., . . . Higgins, A. (2017). Service users' experiences of involuntary hospital admission under the Mental Health Act 2001 in the Republic of Ireland. *Psychiatric Services*, 68(11), 1127-1135.
- Naldemirci, Ö., Wolf, A., Elam, M., Lydahl, D., Moore, L., & Britten, N. (2017). Deliberate and emergent strategies for implementing person-centred care: A qualitative interview study with researchers, professionals and patients. BMC health services research, 17(1), 527-527. doi:10.1186/s12913-017-2470-2
- National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health. (2012). Service User Experience in Adult Mental Health: NICE Guidance on Improving the Experience of Care for People Using Adult NHS Mental Health Services.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. (2014). Psychosis and schizophrenia in adults: prevention and management. www.nice.org.uk Retrieved from https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg178.
- Nielsen, M. Ø., Milting, K., Brandt-Christensen, A. M., & Ebdrup, B. H. (2020). Increased use of coercive procedures and prolonged hospitalization in compulsory admitted psychotic patients, who refuse antipsychotic medication. *Nordic journal of psychiatry*, 74(5), 323-326. doi:10.1080/08039488.2019.1709220

- O'Donovan, A. (2007). Patient-centred care in acute psychiatric admission units: reality or rhetoric? *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 14(6), 542-548.
- O'Brien, B. C., Harris, I. B., Beckman, T. J., Reed, D. A., & Cook, D. A. (2014). Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research: A Synthesis of Recommendations. *Academic medicine*, *89*(9), 1245-1251. doi:10.1097/ACM.000000000000388
- Olsson, L.-E., Jakobsson Ung, E., Swedberg, K., & Ekman, I. (2013). Efficacy of person-centred care as an intervention in controlled trials - a systematic review. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 22(3-4), 456-465. doi:10.1111/jocn.12039
- Olsson, L.-E., Karlsson, J., Berg, U., Kärrholm, J., & Hansson, E. (2014). Personcentred care compared with standardized care for patients undergoing total hip arthroplasty—A quasi-experimental study. *Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery and Research*, 9(1), 95. doi:10.1186/s13018-014-0095-2
- Opler, M. G., Yang, L. H., Caleo, S., & Alberti, P. (2007). Statistical validation of the criteria for symptom remission in schizophrenia: preliminary findings. *BMC Psychiatry*, 7, 35. doi:10.1186/1471-244X-7-35
- Owen, H. (2008). Open space technology: A user's guide: Berrett-Koehler Publishers.
- Perry, B. M., Taylor, D., & Shaw, S. K. (2007). "You've got to have a positive state of mind": An interpretative phenomenological analysis of hope and first episode psychosis. *Journal of mental health (Abingdon, England)*, 16(6), 781-793. doi:10.1080/09638230701496360
- Perälä, J., Suvisaari, J., Saarni, S. I., Kuoppasalmi, K., Isometsä, E., Pirkola, S., ... Kieseppä, T. (2007). Lifetime prevalence of psychotic and bipolar I disorders in a general population. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 64(1), 19-28.
- Phelan, J. C., Bromet, E. J., & Link, B. G. (1998). Psychiatric illness and family stigma. *Schizophrenia bulletin*, 24(1), 115-126.
- Piccinelli, M., Bortolaso, P., Bolla, E., & Cioffi, I. (2016). Typologies of psychiatric admissions and length of inpatient stay in Italy. *International journal of psychiatry in clinical practice*, 20(2), 116-120. doi:10.3109/13651501.2016.1166514
- Ricœur, P. (2011). *Homo capax : texter av Paul Ricoeur om etik och filosofisk antropologi:* Göteborg : Daidalos.
- Rodrigues-Silva, N., & Ribeiro, L. (2020). Impact of medical comorbidity in psychiatric inpatient length of stay. *Journal of mental health (Abingdon, England), 29*(6), 701-705. doi:10.1080/09638237.2017.1340605
- Rogers, C. (2012). Client Centred Therapy (New Ed) Its Current Practice, Implications and Theory. New York: New York : Constable & Robinson.

- Rogers, E., Chamberlin, J., Ellison, M. L., & Crean, T. (1997). A consumerconstructed scale to measure empowerment among users of mental health services. *Psychiatric Services*, 48(8), 1042-1047. doi:10.1176/ps.48.8.1042
- Rogers, E., Ralph, R., & Salzer, M. (2010). Validating the empowerment scale with a multisite sample of consumers of mental health services. *Psychiatric Services*, 61(9), 933-936. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.61.9.933
- Ross, H., Tod, A., & Clarke, A. (2015). Understanding and achieving personcentred care: the nurse perspective. *Journal of clinical nursing*, 24(9-10), 1223-1233. doi:10.1111/jocn.12662
- Røssberg, J., Melle, I., Opjordsmoen, S., & Friis, S. (2006). Patient satisfaction and treatment environment: A 20-year follow-up study from an acute psychiatric ward. *Nordic journal of psychiatry*, 60(2), 176-180. doi:10.1080/08039480600583894
- Rössler, W., Salize, H. J., van Os, J., & Riecher-Rossler, A. (2005). Size of burden of schizophrenia and psychotic disorders. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol*, 15(4), 399-409. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2005.04.009
- Salize, H. J., & Dressing, H. (2004). Epidemiology of involuntary placement of mentally ill people across the European Union. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 184(2), 163-168.
- Sanati, A., & Kyratsous, M. (2015). Epistemic injustice in assessment of delusions. Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice, 21(3), 479-485. doi:10.1111/jep.12347
- Schizophrenia Commission. (2012). The abandoned illness: A report from the Schizophrenia Commission. Retrieved from <u>https://www.rethink.org/media/2637/the-abandoned-illness-final.pdf:</u> <u>https://www.rethink.org/aboutus/who-we-are/the-schizophreniacommission/</u>
- Schroder, A., Wilde Larsson, B., & Ahlstrom, G. (2007). Next of kin's conceptions of the quality of care in the psychiatric setting: A phenomenographic study. *International journal of mental health nursing*, 16(5), 307-317. doi:10.1111/j.1447-0349.2007.00481.x
- Sibitz, I., Amering, M., Unger, A., Seyringer, M., Bachmann, A., Schrank, B., . . . Woppmann, A. (2011). The impact of the social network, stigma and empowerment on the quality of life in patients with schizophrenia. *European Psychiatry*, 26(1), 28-33.
- Sixma, H. J., Kerssens, J. J., Campen, C. v., & Peters, L. (1998). Quality of care from the patients' perspective: from theoretical concept to a new measuring instrument. *Health expectations : an international journal of public participation in health care and health policy, 1*(2), 82-95. doi:10.1046/j.1369-6513.1998.00004.x

- Sjögren, K., Lindkvist, M., Sandman, P. O., Zingmark, K., & Edvardsson, D. (2012). Psychometric evaluation of the swedish version of the personcentered care assessment tool (P-CAT). *International Psychogeriatrics*, 24(3), 406-415. doi:10.1017/S104161021100202X
- Skivington, K., Matthews, L., Craig, P., Simpson, S., & Moore, L. (2018). Developing and evaluating complex interventions: updating Medical Research Council guidance to take account of new methodological and theoretical approaches. *The Lancet, 392*, S2.
- Slater, L. (2006). Person-centredness: a concept analysis. *Contemp Nurse, 23*(1), 135-144. doi:10.5555/conu.2006.23.1.135
- Smith, C. (2010). What is a person? : rethinking humanity, social life, and the moral good from the person up. London: University of Chicago Press.
- Smith, C. (2015). To Flourish or Destruct: A Personalist Theory of Human Goods, Motivations, Failure, and Evil. Chicago, IL: Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Smith, P., Nicaise, P., Giacco, D., Bird, V., Bauer, M., Ruggeri, M., . . . Lorant, V. (2020). Use of psychiatric hospitals and social integration of patients with psychiatric disorders: a prospective cohort study in five European countries. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 55(11), 1425-1438. doi:10.1007/s00127-020-01881-1
- Spinuzzi, C. (2005). The methodology of participatory design. *Technical Communication*, 52(2), 163.
- Stanhope, V., Ingoglia, C., Schmelter, B., & Marcus, S. (2013). Impact of personcentered planning and collaborative documentation on treatment adherence. *Psychiatric Services*, 64(1), 76-79. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201100489
- Stanhope, V., Tondora, J., Davidson, L., Choy-Brown, M., & Marcus, S. C. (2015). Person-centered care planning and service engagement: a study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials, 16*, 180. doi:10.1186/s13063-015-0715-0
- Staniszewska, S., Mockford, C., Chadburn, G., Fenton, S., Bhui, K., Larkin, M., . . . Weich, S. (2019). Experiences of in-patient mental health services: systematic review. *British Journal Of Psychiatry*, 214(6), 329-338. doi:10.1192/bjp.2019.22
- Stock, J. L. (2021). The Role of the Organisational Context Across the Psychosis Service Pathway: Canterbury Christ Church University (United Kingdom).
- Stovell, D., Morrison, A. P., Panayiotou, M., & Hutton, P. (2016). Shared treatment decision-making and empowerment-related outcomes in psychosis: systematic review and meta-analysis. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, bjp. bp. 114.158931.

- Strauss, J. L., Zervakis, J. B., Stechuchak, K. M., Olsen, M. K., Swanson, J., Swartz, M. S., . . . Oddone, E. Z. (2013). Adverse impact of coercive treatments on psychiatric inpatients' satisfaction with care. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 49(4), 457-465. doi:10.1007/s10597-012-9539-5
- Struening, E. L., Perlick, D. A., Link, B. G., Hellman, F., Herman, D., & Sirey, J. A. (2001). Stigma as a barrier to recovery: The extent to which caregivers believe most people devalue consumers and their families. *Psychiatric* services, 52(12), 1633-1638.
- Sugiura, K., Pertega, E., & Holmberg, C. (2020). Experiences of involuntary psychiatric admission decision-making: a systematic review and metasynthesis of the perspectives of service users, informal carers, and professionals. *International journal of law and psychiatry*, 73, 101645-101645. doi:10.1016/j.ijlp.2020.101645
- Svensson, B., & Hansson, L. (1994). Patient satisfaction with inpatient psychiatric care. The influence of personality traits, diagnosis and perceived coercion. *Acta Psychiatr Scand*, 90(5), 379-384.
- Swanson, K. A., Bastani, R., Rubenstein, L. V., Meredith, L. S., & Ford, D. E. (2007). Effect of mental health care and shared decision making on patient satisfaction in a community sample of patients with depression. *Med Care Res Rev, 64*(4), 416-430. doi:10.1177/1077558707299479
- Swedish Board of Health and Welfare. (2018). National guidelines for treatment and care in schizophrenia and schizophrenia-like conditions. Socialstyrelsen.se Retrieved from <u>https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/regler-och-riktlinjer/nationella-riktlinjer/riktlinjer-och-utvarderingar/schizofreni/</u>.
- Swedish Code of Statitutes (1991:1128) (Producer). (1991). The Swedish Act on Compulsory Psychiatric Care (1991:1128). Retrieved from <u>https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-lagar/dokument/svensk-</u> <u>forfattningssamling/lag-19911128-om-psykiatrisk-tvangsvard\_sfs-1991-</u> <u>1128</u>
- Swedish Code of Statitutes (2017:30) (Producer). (2017). Swedish Health and Medical Services Act (2017:30). Retrieved from <u>https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-lagar/dokument/svensk-</u> forfattningssamling/halso--och-sjukvardslag\_sfs-2017-30
- Swedish Council on Health Technology Assessment (SBU). (2012). Schizofreni: Läkemedelsbehandling, patientens delaktighet och vårdens organisation. En systematisk översikt (Schizophrenia: Pharmacological treatment, patient involvement and the organization of care. A systematic review) (213). Retrieved from Statens Beredning för Medicinsk och Social Utvärdering: http://www.sbu.se/en/publications/sbu-assesses/schizophrenia-pharmacological-treatments-patient-involvement-and-organization-ofcare/

- Sweeney, A., Fahmy, S., Nolan, F., Morant, N., Fox, Z., Lloyd-Evans, B., . . . Johnson, S. (2014). The relationship between therapeutic alliance and service user satisfaction in mental health inpatient wards and crisis house alternatives: A cross-sectional study. *PloS one*, 9(7), e100153-e100153. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0100153
- Tengland, P.-A. (2008). Empowerment: A Conceptual Discussion. Health Care Analysis, 16(2), 77-96. doi:10.1007/s10728-007-0067-3
- Thompson, J., Boden, Z., Newton, E. K., Fenton, K., Hickman, G., & Larkin, M. (2019). The experiences of inpatient nursing staff caring for young people with early psychosis. *Journal of research in nursing*, 24(1-2), 75-85. doi:10.1177/1744987118818857
- Thornicroft, G., Tansella, M., Becker, T., Knapp, M., Leese, M., Schene, A., . . . Group, E. S. (2004). The personal impact of schizophrenia in Europe. *Schizophrenia research*, 69(2), 125-132.
- Tiihonen, J., Lonnqvist, J., Wahlbeck, K., Klaukka, T., Niskanen, L., Tanskanen, A., & Haukka, J. (2009). 11-year follow-up of mortality in patients with schizophrenia: a population-based cohort study (FIN11 study). *Lancet*, 374(9690), 620-627. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60742-X
- Tong, A., Sainsbury, P., & Craig, J. (2007). Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. *International journal for quality in health care, 19*(6), 349-357. doi:10.1093/intqhc/mzm042
- van Diepen, C., Fors, A., Ekman, I., & Hensing, G. (2020). Association between person-centred care and healthcare providers' job satisfaction and workrelated health: a scoping review. BMJ Open, 10(12). doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2020-042658
- Vermeulen, J., Schirmbeck, N., van Tricht, M., de Haan, L., & investigators, O. o. P. (2018). Satisfaction of psychotic patients with care and its value to predict outcomes. *European Psychiatry*, 47, 60-66.
- Vikström, S., Sandman, P.-O., Stenwall, E., Boström, A., Saarnio, L., Kindblom, K., . . . Borell, L. (2015). A model for implementing guidelines for personcentered care in a nursing home setting. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 27(1), 49-59. doi:10.1017/S1041610214001598
- von Hausswolff-Juhlin, Y., Bjartveit, M., Lindstrom, E., & Jones, P. (2009). Schizophrenia and physical health problems. *Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl*(438), 15-21. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.2008.01309.x
- Wale, J. B., Belkin, G. S., & Moon, R. (2011). Reducing the use of seclusion and restraint in psychiatric emergency and adult inpatient services— Improving patient-centered care. *Permanente Journal*, 15(2), 57.
- Walker, L., & Avant, K. (2005). Strategies for theory construction in nursing (Vol. 4): Pearson/Prentice Hall Upper Saddle River, NJ.

- Walker, S., Mackay, E., Barnett, P., Sheridan Rains, L., Leverton, M., Dalton-Locke, C., . . . Johnson, S. (2019). Clinical and social factors associated with increased risk for involuntary psychiatric hospitalisation: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and narrative synthesis. *The Lancet. Psychiatry*, 6(12), 1039-1053. doi:10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30406-7
- Willemse, B. M., De Jonge, J., Smit, D., Visser, Q., Depla, M. F. I. A., & Pot, A. M. (2015). Staff's person-centredness in dementia care in relation to job characteristics and job-related well-being: A cross-sectional survey in nursing homes. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 71(2), 404-416. doi:10.1111/jan.12505
- Wolf, A., Moore, L., Lydahl, D., Naldemirci, Ö., Elam, M., & Britten, N. (2017). The realities of partnership in person-centred care: a qualitative interview study with patients and professionals. *BMJ open*, 7(7), e016491.
- Woodward, S., Berry, K., & Bucci, S. (2017). A systematic review of factors associated with service user satisfaction with psychiatric inpatient services. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 92, 81-93.
- World Health Organization. (1992). The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders: Clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines (Vol. 1). Geneva: World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization. (2001). The world health report : report of the Director-General. 2001, Mental health: new understanding, new hope. Geneva: Geneva : World Health Organization.
- World Medical Association. (2001). World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 79(4), 373.
- Yang, Y., Li, W., Lok, K.-I., Zhang, Q., Hong, L., Ungvari, G. S., ... Xiang, Y.-T. (2020). Voluntary admissions for patients with schizophrenia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Asian journal of psychiatry*, 48, 101902-101902. doi:10.1016/j.ajp.2019.101902
- Yasuda, M., & Sakakibara, H. (2017). Care staff training based on person-centered care and dementia care mapping, and its effects on the quality of life of nursing home residents with dementia. *Aging & Mental Health*, 21(9), 991-996.
- Zisman-Ilani, Y., Barnett, E., Harik, J., Pavlo, A., & O'Connell, M. (2017). Expanding the concept of shared decision making for mental health: systematic search and scoping review of interventions. *Mental health review journal*, 22(3), 191-213. doi:10.1108/MHRJ-01-2017-0002
- Øhlenschlæger, J., Nordentoft, M., Thorup, A., Jeppesen, P., Petersen, L., Christensen, T. Ø., . . Jørgensen, P. (2008). Effect of integrated treatment on the use of coercive measures in first-episode schizophreniaspectrum disorder. A randomized clinical trial. *International journal of law* and psychiatry, 31(1), 72-76.